

NATIONAL AND KAPODISTRIAN UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS

FACULTY OF SCIENCES SCHOOL OF BIOLOGY DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY

Composition, abundance and biomass of microplanktonic unicellular eukaryotic communities during bloom periods in Thessaloniki Bay

MASTER DISSERTATION THESIS

Athanasiadis Kyriakos Athens, 2023

Examination Committee

Savvas Genitsaris (Supervisor), Assistant Professor, School of Biology, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

Dionysios Raitsos (Co-Supervisor), Assistant Professor, School of Biology, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

Maria Moustaka – Gouni, Professor, School of Biology, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Savvas Genitsaris, Assistant Professor at School of Biology in National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, for his great scientific guidance during my master's dissertation thesis. His continuous support and encouragement have been valuable.

I am sincerely grateful for collaborating with my Co-supervisor Dionisis Raitsos, Assistant Professor at School of Biology in National and Kapodistrian University of Athens. His advice and guidance on Remote – Sensing Satellite Data analysis have been priceless. Also, it is an honor to have Maria Moustaka – Gouni as an examiner.

I would also like to thank PhD students Antonia Kournopoulou for her help with the satellite data, Maria Moustaka – Gouni and Polyxeni Kourkoutmani for their warm hospitality, and their help with taking microphotographs with the microscope.

Last, but not least, I am sincerely grateful to my family and my friends for the support and encouragement they showed me and who in one way or another became part of this dissertation.

Contents

Acknowledgments	3
Abstract	5
1. Introduction	6
1.1 Anthropogenic eutrophication in coastal areas	6
1.2 HABs at a global scale	8
1.3 HABs at the Mediterranean region	9
1.4 Use of remote sensing towards Chl-a estimation in coastal areas	10
2. Materials and Methods	13
2.1 Study Area	13
2.2 Sample collection	14
2.3 Satellite Data Collection	14
2.4 Microscopic analysis	15
2.5 Phytoplankton blooms and Red Tides	15
3. Results	17
3.1 Environmental Parameters	17
3.2 Satellite Data	18
3.3 Composition of the planktonic unicellular eukaryotes	20
3.4 Abundance	26
3.5 Plankton Biomass	32
3.6 Phytoplankton Blooms – Red tides	36
4. Discussion	41
4.1 Bloom dynamics	41
4.2 HABs	43
4.3 Remote sensing	45
5. Conclusions	47
6. References	48
7. Appendix	65

Abstract

Human pressures such as the increase of human population, the industrialization, and the intensification of agriculture, especially, in coastal areas increase the inputs of nutrients to the sea through industrial and urban waste water (Garnier *et al.*, 2010). Thus, eutrophication phenomena have stimulated the proliferation of potentially harmful algal taxa resulting in the prevalence of frequent and intense harmful algal blooms (HABs) in coastal areas. The purpose of this study was to investigate the composition and dynamics of planktonic communities during bloom events in two different seasons in Thessaloniki Bay along spatial gradients. Furthermore, causative species of the observed HABs were identified and are discussed.

Water samples were taken, in spring and summer, from Thessaloniki Bay in order to examine the unicellular planktonic communities. During spring and summer of 2022, 31 surface water samples were collected from 3 sampling sites, Music Hall (MH), White Tower (WT), and Harbor (HB) in Thessaloniki Bay. A total of 83 unicellular eukaryotic plankton species were identified in the 3 sampling sites. Dinoflagellates were more diverse accounting for 38 taxa, followed by diatoms with 34 taxa. According to the official IOC-UNESCO Taxonomic Reference List of Harmful Micro Algae, 7 potentially toxic taxa were recorded in the study area. During spring, dinoflagellates dominated with bloom-forming *Prorocentrum micans* being the most abundant taxon. Also, during March a macroscopically visible Noctiluca scintillans blooms was detected in the White Tower sampling point forming a red tide event. In summer diatoms outcompeted all the other taxonomic groups, with *Chaetoceros* sp. dominating in all 3 sampling sites. The complementary to the *in-situ* observations 23-year satellite data of Chla-a were analyzed and compared with the unicellular planktonic biomass that was calculated with the inverted microscope method but the match-ups were not enough to have a reliable statistical relationship. There is a need for continuous monitoring of target bioindicators of nutrient pollution because of the occurrence of the harmful events and the presence of harmful algae.

1. Introduction

1.1 Anthropogenic eutrophication in coastal areas

More than 50% of the world's population lives in urban areas, mostly located in coastal areas or areas strongly affected by coastal systems (Von Glasow *et al.*, 2013). It has been predicted that the increase in the global population will coincide with a rise in coastal urbanization (Rabalais *et al.*, 2009). The increase of the human population, the industrialization, and the intensification of agriculture directly affect river inputs, land runoff, and industrial or urban wastewater (Davidson *et al.*, 2012; Guillaud *et al.*, 1992). Human pressures close to the coast involve intensive agriculture, partially treated domestic and industrial sewage, fish and mussel farming and fishing (Dimitriou *et al.*, 2015). These activities also constitute a basic risk, which concerns the reduction of the biodiversity of the coastal areas which is often related to the health and functionality of the ecosystems (Basset *et al.*, 2008; Kominoski, 2009). Human pressures have contributed to a 3-fold increase of nitrogen and phosphorus in their global delivery to the ocean (Smith *et al.*, 2003).

Nutrient fluxes control the distribution and succession of phytoplankton communities (Souchu *et al.*, 2010), which is the basis of marine ecosystems. In addition to producing oxygen and controlling carbon levels, they are also the base of the food webs since they are a direct or indirect source of food, for many marine organisms of higher trophic levels (Van Dolah, 2000). Nearly 50% of the atmospheric O_2 comes from phytoplankton's primary production, and one of the major functions of phytoplankton is to draw CO^2 from the atmosphere and introduce it into ocean ecosystems. Thus, phytoplankton contributes to climate change mitigation by absorbing 25-30% of CO^2 emissions annually (Tweddle, 2018).

Phytoplankton abundance is enhanced by the presence of nutrients mainly nitrogen (N), and phosphorus (P) which are fundamental nutrients for primary production. Thus, eutrophication, one of the major threats to the health of marine environments, is directly related to human activities in coastal areas, which increase the input of nutrients, especially the supply of nitrogen and phosphorus to the sea (Billen & Garnier, 2007). According to, the global Indicator for Coastal Eutrophication Potential (ICEP) analysis, coastal eutrophication has the potential to continue to increase (Garnier *et al.*, 2010). Eutrophication combined with the results of climate

change in global warming and sea temperatures which affect the hydrological cycles, and wind patterns, leads to the proliferation of phytoplankton biomass causing conspicuous and frequent algal blooms (Glibert *et al.*, 2001; Sadeghi Mazidi *et al.*, 2011; Glibert et al., 2018; Glibert, 2020).

Thus, the unicellular plankton abundance and biomass have increased globally due to eutrophication, while harmful algal blooms (HABs) accompanied by toxic species have been observed along coastal areas worldwide (Tsikoti & Genitsaris, 2021). Phytoplankton blooms can be toxic or non-toxic. This depends on the involved species, their biological and ecological characteristics, and the state of the respective environment where they are (Bahrami, 2013). A typical example of unicellular eukaryotic plankton blooms is red tides which are used to describe blooms that can cause discoloration of seawater (Turkoglou, 2010).

Task Group 5 of the Marine Strategy Framework Directive reports that there are three types of harmful algal blooms. The first type includes microalgal species that produce potent toxins which can cause serious gastrointestinal and neurological illnesses and death to humans, after contaminated seafood consumption and deaths to other organisms (fish, marine mammals, birds) (Scholin *et al.*, 2000). The occurrence of toxic microalgae represents a significant threat to human health, aquaculture, fishery resources and marine ecosystems throughout the world (Hallegraeff *et al.*, 2003). Secondly, there are HABs that are caused by likely toxic algae such as some species of the genus *Pseudonitzschia* sp. And finally, here are also the high-biomass blooms. Of the \geq 5000 unicellular phytoplanktonic species described worldwide, nearly 300 species can generate high-biomass blooms including red tides. These species mainly belong to dinoflagellates, diatoms, and haptophytes while some of them have been recognized to be toxic to fish, shellfish, marine mammals, and humans (Zohdi & Abbaspour, 2019).

Diatoms and species dinoflagellates are typical groups of primary producers in eutrophic systems, while they are less abundant in oligotrophic tropical environments (Calbet & Landry, 1999; Gaudy & Youssara., 2003). There is evidence that these taxonomic groups flourish in coastal areas that are enriched by anthropogenic activities (Ciavatta *et al.*, 2019). For example, if silicon is limited in coastal ecosystems, nonsiliceous phytoplankton proliferates, such as flagellates and dinoflagellates, which can gradually dominate and often cause HABs. Dinoflagellates stand out in their species richness and broad nutritional diversity (Smayda & Reynolds, 2003). According to the literature, dinoflagellates are classified according to their feeding mechanisms as autotrophic photosynthetic species, mixotrophic organisms obtaining their nutrition by photosynthesis and the uptake of dissolved organic matter (osmotrophy) and/or particulate organic matter (phagotrophy), and heterotrophic species whose feeding is phagotrophic (Jeong *et al.*, 2010; Burkholder *et al.* 2008; Gaines & Elbrächter, 1987).

It is likely that mixotrophic and heterotrophic dinoflagellates blooms, will have significant effects on marine ecosystems since their nutritional mode has important ecological implications. They are key grazers, feeding on prey ranging in size from bacteria to fish tissues (Jeong *et al.*, 2010), and at the same time they constitute a significant food source for mesozooplankton (Sherr & Sherr, 2007). Thus, they may play a crucial role in the food web because they reticulate a heterotrophic link between the microbial loop and the classic food chain (Sherr *et al.*, 1986). Even if non-toxic, bloom-forming mixotrophic and heterotrophic dinoflagellates, have the potential to dominate the unicellular planktonic community, and subsequently have ecological consequences, related to the degradation of water quality. The impacts depend on the life cycle of the exact species which cause the blooms (Ignatiades & Gotsis -Skretas, 2010).

1.2 HABs at a global scale

Eutrophication remains a global, common problem in coastal areas such as in Netherlands (de Jonge, 2000), Brazil (Braga *et al.*, 2000; Reis-Filho *et al.*, 2012; De Jesus Affe *et al.* 2021), the Baltic Sea (Yurkovskis *et al.*, 1993; Karlson *et al.*, 2021; Rene *et al.*, 2022; Konik *et al.*, 2023), the Northern Adriatic Sea (Barmawidjaja *et al.*, 1995; Facca *et al.*, 2014; Accoroni *et al.*, 2015), and China (Lee & Arega, 1999; Fang *et al.*, 2018; Yu *et al.*, 2023). In China several toxic blooms have been recorded and especially red tides forming by *Noctiluca scintillans* in spring to summer often resulting in a strong pinkish red or orange discoloration of the water (Huang & Qi 1997). In South China Sea, also, *Scrippsiella trochoidea* was forming blooms annually from 1998-2004 in Daya Bay (Wang *et al.*, 2007). The industrial sewage and the inputs from the polluted river of Mississippi have contributed to the bloom formation of many causative species such as *Karenia brevis, Aureoumbra lagunensis, Chattonella subsala, N. scintillans, Ceratium furca, Scirpsiella* sp., and *Pseudonitzschia* sp. at the Gulf of Mexico (Ulloa *et al.*, 2017; Xiao *et al.*, 2018). Extensive toxic blooms have been reported in the west

coast of India (Turkoglu, 2013), in France (Guillou *et al.*, 2002), North America and Japan, as well as in Chile, South Africa and Australia (Pitcher *et al.*, 2007; Krock *et al.*, 2007; Robertson *et al.*, 2004).

1.3 HABs at the Mediterranean region

During the past years, an increasing number of studies, in the Mediterranean Sea, indicates harmful species proliferations, particularly along the northern coasts cause by the morphology of its coastline and nutrient-rich freshwater inputs from coastal urbanization and intensification of agriculture (Collos *et al.*, 2004; Spatharis *et al.*, 2007a; Vila *et al.*, 2005; Barale *et al.*, 2008). For example, *Dinophysis* blooms have been documented in the western Mediterranean Sea (Vila *et al.*, 2001). Several greek coastal areas characterized by high pollution levels, restricted water mass circulation, and riverine inflows, are hotspots of frequently HABs occurrence (Gotsis-Skretas *et al.*, 1999; Ignatiades *et al.*, 2009; Siokou-Frangou *et al.*, 2002). Most Greek gulf with restricted circulation exhibit eutrophication problems, such as the Elefsis Bay and the northern part of the inner Saronikos Gulf (Friligos & Barbetseas, 1990; Theodorou, 1997; Pagou *et al.*, 2002; Pavlidou *et al.*, 2004), the Patraikos Gulf (Friligos *et al.*, 1985), the Gulf of Kalloni in Lesvos Island (Panayotidis *et al.*, 1999), and the Thermaikos Gulf (Gotsis-Skretas & Friligos, 1990; Pagou, 2000; Genitsaris *et al.*, 2019).

Among the most common unicellular planktonic eukaryotes found to cause blooms in Thermaikos Gulf are the genera *Pseudo-nitzshia* sp., *Skeletonema* sp. *Chaetoceros* sp., *Alexandrum* sp., *Ceratium* sp., *Scripsiella* sp., *Prorocentrum* sp., *N. scintillans*, *Spatulodinium pseudonoctiluca*, *Gymnodinium breve*, *Mesodinium* sp., and species of the genus *Prorocentrum* sp. (Xiao *et al.*, 2018). Specifically, it was found that *P. micans*, *Protoperidinium* sp. *Gymnodinium* sp. and *Ceratium pulchellum*, flourish in polluted waters such as Thessaloniki Bay (Friligos & Koussouris, 1984; Nikolaides & Moustaka – Gouni, 1990). From 2000 to 2004, the dinoflagellates *N. scintillans*, and some species from the genus of *Prorocentrum* such as the species *P. micans* were responsible for the discoloration of the water in Thermaikos Gulf and the anoxia conditions caused in the ecosystem (Ignatiades & Gotsis-Skretas, 2010). Also, HABs and recurrent red tides caused by dinoflagellates such as *Protoperidinium* sp. and *N. scintillans* have been witnessed before in Thessaloniki Bay (Evagelopoulos, 2002). Furthermore, from March to June 2017 diatom blooms, caused by *L. danicus* and *L. minimus* were detected in Thessaloniki Bay (Genitsaris *et al.*, 2019), even though biological water treatment has been implemented since 2001, aiming to reduce the effects of anthropogenic eutrophication (Krestenitis *et al.*, 2012). Even though citizens and authorities are increasingly concerned about the water quality of the Bay and particularly the urban area, extensive studies on red tides and mucilage aggregate phenomena are lacking for Thermaikos Gulf with few exceptions (Genitsaris *et al.*, 2021; Androulidakis *et al.*, 2021; Patoucheas & Savvidis, 2010; Nikolaidis *et al.*, 2006).

1.4 Use of remote sensing towards Chl-a estimation in coastal areas

The Marine Strategy Framework Directive requires that European Union Member States achieve Good Environmental Status (GES) in marine waters by 2020 (MSFD, 2008/56/EC). Phytoplankton is the biological element most closely related to eutrophication, and a primary indicator for the assessment of water quality, as registering high reproduction rates and rapidly responding to environmental changes. According to the Water Framework Directive (WFD), different phytoplankton attributes are considered essential for the appraisal of ecological status, including species composition, abundance and biomass, as well as frequency and intensity of phytoplankton blooms (WFD, 2000/60/EC). Furthermore, the composition of phytoplankton communities, the dominance of taxonomic groups (e.g., diatoms or dinoflagellates) and the frequency of HABs are also considered for overall assessment of coastal eutrophication status (EC 2005). A frequently used parameter for monitoring eutrophication at spatial and temporal scales is Chl-a concentrations which can be an indicator of phytoplankton biomass (Cullen, 1982; Jeffrey & Vesk, 1997) and, in turn, a primary indicator of ecosystem functioning (Boyce et al., 2010; Roemmich & McGowan, 1995).

One of the most common methods used to estimate Chl-a concentrations is satellite remote sensing. In the detection of phytoplankton blooms, the amount and extent of the bloom can be estimated using Chl-a estimation algorithm, phytoplankton absorption assay, turbidity control, and light penetration changes in seawater and spectral study of different wavelengths. Steidinger and Haddad (1979) first used Chl-a estimated from the color satellite pattern sensor, the "Coast Zone Color Scanner" (CZCS, 1978–1986) to observe a significant bloom of the toxic dinoflagellate *Karenia*. Since then, several sensors have been launched and put into operation for stronger and more effective monitoring. These sensors include the "Sea-viewing Wide Field-of-view

Sensor" (SeaWiFS, 1997–2010), the "Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer" (MODIS, 2000–present on Terra and 2002–present on Aqua), and the "Medium Resolution Imaging Spectrometer' (MERIS, 2002–2012).

Most detection algorithms are based on Chl concentration (Stump, 2001; Cannizzaro *et al.*, 2008). Also, in solar-stimulated fluorescence using the MODIS fluorescence line height (FLH) tool (Hu *et al.*, 2005). Now, however, MODIS nFLH (normalized FLH) provides a better measure of phytoplankton abundance (Mckee *et al.*, 2007) because it is based on blue-green reflectance ratios, which are more sensitive to perturbations from dissolved organic matter (CDOM) than usual, due to river runoff.

Most studies using remote sensing to examine bloom occurrence and dynamics have been done in the areas of the Gulf of Mexico but also in the East China Sea and Japan. In addition, a large percentage of research was aimed at the toxic dinoflagellate *Karenia brevis* (Poli *et al.*, 2000). Ishizaka et al. (2006) successfully used the Chl-a concentration product derived from the SeaWiFS sensor to detect spatial and temporal variations of red tide in Japan. However, red tide delineation using satellite Chl-a cannot differentiate phytoplankton blooms (e.g., seasonal blooms) from red tides and/or HABs (Tomlinson *et al.*, 2004). To overcome this problem, satellite Chl-a anomaly extraction was introduced and adopted as one of the most functional techniques for monitoring blooms (Stumpf *et al.*, 2003; Tomlinson *et al.*, 2004; Gokul *et al.*, 2023; Gokul *et al.*, 2020; Gokul *et al.*, 2019).

Satellite observation of ocean color provides an estimate of Chl-a concentration in near surface waters down to 20–25 m in the clearest waters (Kemp & Villareal, 2013), although the availability of information is limited by clouds. The dependence on Chl-a makes this information more important when biomass is high, such as in cases of red tides (e.g., Japan) (Ishizaka *et al.*, 2006) and blooms of the toxic diatom *Pseudonitzschia* spp. (e.g., Spain) (Spyrakos *et al.*, 2011).

Also, although few in number, there are operational coupled toxic bloom observation/modeling systems. NOAA's operational forecast of harmful algal blooms (HAB-OFS) operating in Florida and Texas in the USA (Stumpf *et al.*, 2008). This system is based on a number of approaches including satellite images, field observations and mathematical models. It also incorporates public health reports and data from existing buoys to predict blooms and their course. However, it is limited to

mono-specific high-biomass blooms that are detectable by satellites using ocean color algorithms, and actual predictions are based on passive particle transport.

The aim of this study was to examine planktonic unicellular eukaryotic communities' structure and abundance in three sites of close proximity in Thessaloniki Bay, during different bloom periods, recorded in spring and summer. At the same time satellite remote sensing data were analyzed and were integrated with the *in-situ* results. The main questions were: i) What is the composition of unicellular planktonic eukaryotic communities during spring and summer blooms in Thessaloniki Bay?, ii) Which species dominated in terms of abundance and biomass? iii) Were there differences in the composition of blooming unicellular eukaryotic communities in the three sites and the two sampling seasons?, iv) How remote sensing data can be integrated to the investigation of coastal bloom events of the study area?.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Area

Thessaloniki Bay in the inner Thermaikos Gulf, is a semi-closed embayment of the northwest Aegean Sea with a maximum depth of 45 m (Balopoulos & Friligos, 1993) (Fig. 1). Thermaikos Gulf is defined to the north by the coastline of the city of Thessaloniki, to the west by the coastline of Nea Pieria, to the east by the coastline of the Kassandra peninsula, and to the south by the 200 m isobath (Krestenitis *et al.*, 1997). The Gulf is divided into inner and outer parts. The Northern part of the Gulf is compressed into two shallow and successive bays with a maximum depth of 25 m, which are subjected to urban and industrial pollution. Thessaloniki Bay, and its commercial harbor are considered as the human–affected coastal area in Greece and, on a broader basis, in the Eastern Mediterranean (Dimiza *et al.*, 2020). On the other hand, the Southern part of Thermaikos, with a maximum depth of 40 m, communicates with the open sea receiving seawater from the Aegean Sea (Robles *et al.*, 1983; Balopoulos, 1986).



Figure 1. Map of Thermaikos Gulf, indicating the locations of the three sampling sites in Thessaloniki Bay. HB: Harbor, WT: White Tower, MH: Music Hall.

There is a strong correlation between the eutrophic status of the Gulf and river discharges. Thermaikos Gulf, the western part in particular, receives significant amounts of water from the Axios, Aliakmon, Loudias, and Gallikos Rivers, with the Axios and Aliakmon contributing the biggest percentage of nutrients (Androulakis *et al.*, 2021). The waters of the large river systems and especially of the river Axios are heavily polluted by industrial effluents and domestic waste. Due to the continental inputs, the Gulf is rather fertile and is one of the major sites for trawling activities in Greece (Stergiou *et al.*, 1997).

Also, Thermaikos Gulf receives the municipal sewage of the metropolitan city of Thessaloniki and the Atherida Coast, as well as the 2 pumping sites (Malgaron and Kleidi). For decades, there has been a large volume of industrial and domestic waste from Thessaloniki being discharges with primary treatment only in Thessaloniki Bay. The Thessaloniki Bay, in particular, has been recognized as being quite affected by nutrient enrichment, often resulting in the appearance of red tides with significant socio-economic implications in the area (Karageorgis *et al.*, 2005; Pagou, 2005; Genitsaris *et al.*, 2019).

2.2 Sample collection

Water samples from Thessaloniki Bay were collected during April 2022 and weekly from July 2022 to August 2022, from three inshore sites along the urban front of the Bay (Table 1). In total, 9 surface samples of 500 mL were collected from the harbor area of Thessaloniki (HB), 11 from White Tower (WT), and 11 from Music Hall (MH). After samplings, water samples were preserved in Lugol's solution for microscopic analysis.

Table 1. Sampling sites at Thessaloniki Bay, and the total number of samples collected in each sites.

Sampling sites	Latitude	Longitude	Number of samples
HB (HARBOR)	40.63155° N	22.93454° E	9
WT (WHITE TOWER)	40.62542° N	22.94776° E	11
MH (MUSIC HALL)	40.59631° N	22.94878° E	11

2.3 Satellite Data Collection

Satellite data for Thessaloniki Bay, were obtained from the EU Copernicus Marine Environment Monitoring Service (CMEMS) at <u>https://marine.copernicus.eu/</u> using multisensor Chl-a (mg/m³) daily products at 1 km resolution, which are a mashup of MODIS-Aqua, NOAA-20-VIIRS, NPP-VIIRS, and Sentinel3A-OLCI data, covering

the period from September 1997 to September 2022. The sampling locations were matched up with the corresponding pixels in the images. To get a Chl-a value, the average of the pixels was calculated (window 2*4 in Thermaikos Gulf). Finally, the corresponding Chl-a values were extracted.

2.4 Microscopic analysis

Before the microscopic examination, all samples were gently homogenized in the 0.5 L plastic container, with careful mixing to avoid destroying the microorganisms, and were examined in 2 mL and 25 mL sedimentation chambers. The required settling time of the sample in the chambers was 24 hours. The quantitative and qualitative measurements of planktonic communities were performed with an inverted microscope (Zeiss AxioVert 100 Inverted Microscope), with phase contrast. The identification of the planktonic unicellular eukaryotes was based on the taxonomic keys and relevant papers of Schiller (1937), Dodge (1985), Round et al. (1990), Tomas (1993, 1996), and also the database of Kuylenstierna & Karlson (1996-2006).

The cells of the planktonic unicellular eukaryotic microbes were counted at 100X and 400X magnification according to the inverted microscope method (Utermöhl, 1958). Larger cells were counted by scanning the chambers with 100X magnification. For the smaller cells, visual fields were examined at the 400X magnification to reach 100 cells counts of the most dominant taxa and 400 cells counts of the total community. The threshold of 400 counted cells from all species was set in order to achieve a statistically accepted estimation of the unicellular eukaryotic abundance (Katsiapi *et al.*, 2011). Mean cell volume estimates were calculated using appropriate geometric formulae according to Hillebrand et al. (1999). Biovolumes were converted to biomass assuming a density equal to water, i.e 1 g cm⁻³ (Rott, 1981).

2.5 Phytoplankton blooms and Red Tides

In the present study, water samples were analyzed to describe seasonal planktonic blooms. According to the ecology of marine microorganisms and some extent the incorporation and implementation by European countries of the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) and as well as the Marine Strategy Directive (2008/56/EC) the definition of what is a bloom varies from species to species and from region to region. In the present study, phytoplankton and protozooplankton organisms were divided into size classes based on their cell biovolume, and for each class was established the limit

of phytoplankton and protozooplankton abundance per unit volume of water corresponding to a bloom or red tide. More specifically, seven size categories were created to define abundances follows:

a) cells with size $<100~\mu m^3$ and abundance $>10000~cells~mL^{-1}$

b) cells with size $100 - 250 \ \mu m^3$ and abundance $10000 - 5000 \ cells \ mL^{-1}$

c) cells with size $250 - 1000 \ \mu m^3$ and abundance $5000 - 1000 \ cells \ mL^{-1}$

d) cells with size $1000 - 2500 \ \mu\text{m}^3$ and abundance $1000 - 400 \ \text{cells m}L^{-1}$

e) cells with size $2500 - 5000 \ \mu m^3$ and abundance $400 - 200 \ cells \ mL^{-1}$

f) cells with size $5000 - 10000 \ \mu\text{m}^3$ and abundance $200 - 100 \ \text{cells m}\text{L}^{-1}$

g) cells with size > 10000 μ m³ and abundance of 25 – 100 cells mL⁻¹

3. Results

3.1 Environmental Parameters

The surface temperature recorded, during the study period in Thessaloniki Bay, ranged from 19°C to 32°C. In spring the highest was observed on 25-Apr. In summer the highest values were recorded on the 10th and 17th of August 2022 (fig. 2).



Figure 2. Temperature range in Thessaloniki Bay during the period of the study. Two bloom periods are separated with the vertical red line.

3.2 Satellite Data

The results of satellite observations of Chl-a concentrations in Thessaloniki Bay area and the adjacent offshore region, are presented in Figure 3. Monthly climatology of Chl-a concentrations from 1998 to 2021 reveal a single seasonal repetitive peak during the period of March (5.82 mg m⁻³) which then drop. The lowest value recorded in December with 2.07 mg m⁻³. Chl-a concentrations of 2022 have lower values than the 23–year climatology.

During the study period, the satellite data values differed from the *in-situ* measurements. The climatology of Thessaloniki Bay in 2022 has two peaks, the first occurring on 16 - 31 of January (6.51 mg m⁻³) and a second peak on 16 - 31 of March with 6.70 mg m⁻³. After one month there is a pronounced decrease until 16 - 31 of April, where the Chl-a concentration has the lowest value (2.19 mg m⁻³), still very high for marine environment.



Figure 3. A) Map showing satellite-derived Chl-a concentration in Thessaloniki Bay. B) Monthly Climatology of Chl-a in Thessaloniki Bay for the period 1998 - 2021 with the climatology values of April, July and August of 2022. C) Fortnight Climatology of Chl-a in Thessaloniki Bay for 2022 (until 31th of August).

In addition to the monthly climatology, the interannual Chl-a climatology was calculated. As shown in Figure 5, 2003 was the year in which Chl-a reached the highest values with an average of 5.54 mg m⁻³. From 1998 onwards the Chl-a values did not fall below 2.5 mg m⁻³, a very high concentration for marine environment, but in 2019 counted the lowest concentrations of Chl-a (2.79 mg m⁻³). From the satellite observations the anomaly of Chl-a concentrations was calculated. The biggest positive deviation was on April of 2013 with an average of 17.63 mg m⁻³, while on February of 2011 the highest negative value was noted (-3.61 mg m⁻³) (Fig 4).



Figure 4. A) Interannual Climatology of Chl-a in Thessaloniki Bay for the period 1998-2021.B) Anomaly Climatology of Chl-a in Thessaloniki Bay for the period 1998-2021.

3.3 Composition of the planktonic unicellular eukaryotes

Overall, 9 high-level taxonomic groups were identified in Thessaloniki Bay in all 3 sampling sites during the study period (Fig. 5). Dinophyceae had the highest total species richness with 46% of the total number of species, including also mixotrophic and heterotrophic dinoflagellates. Bacillariophyceae followed with 41%, while other groups like Chlorodendrophyceae, Chlorophyceae, Cryptophyceae, Dictyochophyceae, Euglenophyceae, Prasinophyceae, and Prymnesiophyceae contributed with < 5% of the total number of taxa.



Figure 5. Percentage (%) of taxa per taxonomic group of the planktonic unicellular eukaryotic microorganisms of Thessaloniki Bay.

A total of 83 plankton species were identified in the 3 sampling sites (Table 2). During the study period, Dinophyceae were more diverse in terms of their species richness in the 3 sampling sites accounting for 38 taxa in total followed by Bacillariophyceae with 34 taxa. In spring, more species of Dinophyceae were counted than in the summer samplings (Fig. 6). Cryptophyceae and Prymnesiophyceae comprised of 4 and 2 taxa, respectively, while the other taxonomic groups were represented by only 1 taxon. The presence of each unicellular eukaryotes in the samplings is given in Supplementary Tables 1 - 3 (Appendix).



Figure 6. Number of taxa per taxonomic group of the planktonic unicellular eukaryotic microorganisms in Thessaloniki Bay: A) Music Hall (MH), B) White Tower (WT), C) Harbor (HB). Two bloom periods are separated with the vertical red line.

Table 2. List of planktonic unicellular eukaryotic taxa that have been identified in the samples of seawater from Thessaloniki Bay during the period April 2022 – August 2022. (*) indicates heterotrophic species. (**) indicates mixotrophic species.

Bacillariophyceae

Asterionellopsis glacialis	Hemiaulus hauckii	Pseudo-nitzschia seriata sf.
Bacteriastrum furcatum	Hemiaulus sinensis	Rhizosolenia imbricata
Chaetoceros affinis	Leptocylindrus danicus	Rhizosolenia setigera
Chaetoceros lorenzianus	Leptocylindrus minimus	Rhizosolenia pungens
Chaetoceros sp.	Lioloma pacificum	Rhizosolenia sp.
Chaetoceros tenuissimus	Lithodesmium undulatum	Skeletonema costatum
Chaetocheros socialis	Meuniera membranacea	Thalassionema nitzschoides
Coscinodiscus sp.	<i>Navicula</i> sp.	Thalassiosira oceanica
Cylindrotheca closterium	Nitzschia longissima	<i>Thalassiosira</i> sp.
Dactyliosolen fragillisimus	Pleurosigma normanii.	
Eucampia zodiacus	Proboscia alata	
Guinardia striata	Pseudo-nitzschia australis	
Chlorodendrophyceae		
Tetraselmis sp.		
Chlorophyceae		
Chlamydomonas coccoides		
Cryptophyceae		
Chryptomonas sp.**		
Hillea fusiformis**		
Plagioselmis sp.**		
Teleaulax acuta**		
Dictyochophyceae		
Dictyocha fibula**		
Dinophyceae		
Ceratium candelabrum**	<i>Gymnodinium elongatum*</i> sf.	Prorocentrum gracile**
Ceratium furca**	<i>Gyrodinium</i> sp. *	Prorocentrum lima**
Ceratium fusus**	Heterocapsa triquetra**	Prorocentrum micans**
Ceratium lineatum**	<i>Karenia</i> sp.**	Prorocentrum minimum**
Ceratium macroceros**	<i>Katodinium</i> sp. **	Protoperidinium brevipes*
Ceratium trichoceros**	Noctiluca scintillans*	Protoperidinium claudicans*
Ceratium tripos**	Oxytoxum glacile*	Protoperidinium steinii*
<i>Diplopsalis</i> sp. *	Oxytoxum longiceps*	Protoperidinum oceanicum *
Dinophysis acunimata**	Podolampas palmipes*	Pyrophacus holorogium**
Dinophysis dens**	Polykrikos Schwartzii**	Scripsiella trochoidea**
Gonyaulax fragilis**	Prorocentrum compressum**	Spatulodinium pseudonoctiluca*
Euglenophyceae		
<i>Euglena</i> sp.**		
Prasinophyceae		

Pyramimonas octopus

Prymnesiophyceae

Chrysochromulina sp.** *Phaeocystis pouchetii***



Figure 7. Microphotographs of diatoms in the study area of Thessaloniki Bay. A) *Chaetoceros* sp., B) *Thalassionema nitzschoides*, C) *Rhizosolenia imbricata*, D) *Guinardia striata*, E) *Cylindrotheca closterium*.



Figure 8. Microphotographs of Dinophyceae species in the study area of Thessaloniki Bay. A) *Ceratium tripos*, B) *Pyrophacus holorogium*, C) *Protoperidinium steinii*, D) *Ceratium trichoceros*, E) *Gonyaulax fragilis*, F) *Protoperidinium claudicans*.

3.4 Abundance

Overall, the cell abundance of the planktonic unicellular eukaryotes in the 3 sampling sites, recorded high variability. The lowest abundance value was recorded on 28-Apr in WT (377.68 cells mL⁻¹). The highest abundance was recorded on 20-Jul with 1816.35 cells mL⁻¹ (Fig. 9). The highest values of total cell numbers were observed at MH, followed by WT and then HB (MH>WT>HB).

In the spring samples, MH was the site with the highest microeukaryotic abundance, with the highest value recorded on 28-Apr (1454.43 cells mL⁻¹), while WT had the lowest abundance on the exact same date with 377.68 cells mL⁻¹. MH had, also, the highest abundance of unicellular eukaryotes in the summer samples compared to the other two sampling sites.

Regarding the values of the total abundance of unicellular eukaryotes compared to the limits of the trophic state proposed for Greece, all 3 sampling sites exceeded the limit for the upper mesotrophic state (960 cells mL⁻¹, UNEP/MAP 2015). Especially, in spring only MH exceeded 960 cells mL⁻¹ on 20-Apr, 25-Apr and 28-Apr. On the same dates WT and HB had an average abundance value of 664.71 cells mL⁻¹ and 517.76 cells mL⁻¹, respectively. In summer, all 3 sites exceeded the Greek eutrophication scale for water quality.



Figure 9. Total abundanceof the unicellular eukaryotic communities at the 3 sampling sites of Thessaloniki Bay: A) Music Hall (MH), B) White Tower (WT), C) Harbor (HB). Two bloom periods are separated with the vertical red line. The black line corresponds to the upper mesotrophic state according to UNEP/MAP 2015.

Overall, Bacillariophyceae was the most abundant unicellular eukaryotic group. They reached 70% of the total abundance in most of the sampling sites (Fig. 10). The lowest diatom participation was observed in the spring period, on 20-Apr (~ 10%). In the summer period Bacillariophyceae reached two peaks (13-Jul and 17-Aug) exceeding 80% > of total abundance. Dinophyceae was the second most abundant unicellular eukaryotic group. According to Figure 10, Dinophyceae dominated in the spring period, with their highest contribution, to the total abundance, on 25-Apr. Chlorodendrophyceae, Chlorophyceae, Cryptophyceae, Prymnesiophyceae and HNFs contributed less than 9% of total abundance each. Other taxonomic groups (Dictyochophyceae, Euglenophyceae and Prasinophyceae) comprised less than 1% of total abundance.



Figure 10. Circular representation of the contribution of each planktonic unicellular eukaryotic group to the total abundance in Thessaloniki Bay. A: Bacillariophyceae, B: Chlorodendrophyceae, C: Cryptophyceae, D: Dinophyceae, E: Prymnesiophyceae, F: HNF, G: Other groups (Dictyochophyceae, Euglenophyceae Prasinophyceae).

In general, Bacillariophyceae and Dinophyceae dominated in all 3 sites compared to the other taxonomic groups. In spring, Dinophyceae contributed approximately ~ 52% to the total abundance of unicellular eukaryotes, in all three sampling sites. As it is shown in Figure 11I, the total abundance of Bacillariophyceae varied from 16% in MH to 38% in WT. In summer, from 6-Jul to 24-Aug the percentage of their relative abundance was very low (< 11%) compared to Bacillariophyceae (Fig. 11II). The percentage of Cryptophyceae didn't exceed 15% in HB, while Chlorodendrophyceae, Chlorophyceae, Prymnesiophyceae, HNFs contributed with less than 6% to the total abundance in each sampling site.

There was a big variability in the summer abundance of Bacillariophyceae and Dinophyceae. The abundance of Bacillariophyceae covered approximately 80% of total abundance in each sampling sites A big decline was observed in Dinophyceae, close to 40%, compared to the spring abundance. Chlorodendrophyceae, Chlorophyceae, Cryptophyceae, Prymnesiophyceae and HNFs contributed less than 4% in the total abundance of summer samples. Even if the spring and the summer abundance were close, different unicellular planktonic eukaryotic taxa dominated in the two different seasons.



Figure 11. Circular representation of the contribution of each unicellular plankton group to: I) Total spring abundance, II) Total summer abundance, based on the 3 sampling sites of Thessaloniki Bay. A: Bacillariophyceae, B: Chlorodendrophyceae, C: Cryptophyceae, D: Dinophyceae, E: Prymnesiophyceae, F: HNF, G: Other groups (Dictyochophyceae, Euglenophyceae Prasinophyceae).

3.5 Plankton Biomass

Biovolumes (μ m³) of the species identified during the study period, in Thessaloniki Bay, are given in the Supplementary Table 4 (Appendix). The maximum unicellular plankton biomass, during the study period, varied from 1.43 mg L⁻¹ at MH in 17-Apr to 27.61 mg L⁻¹ at WT in 20-Apr. WT and HB had both their lowest biomass values on 28-Apr with 1.46 mg L⁻¹ and 1.66 mg L⁻¹, respectively (Fig. 12).

Both MH and WT (MH on 28-Apr [20.36 mg L⁻¹] and WT on 20-Apr [27.62 mg L⁻¹]) exhibited peaks biomass of unicellular planktonic eukaryotes on the same date in spring. In comparison with the spring samples, only HB's peak was in summer, on 10-Aug (5.87 mg L⁻¹). In general, WT had the highest planktonic unicellular eukaryotes biomass, followed by MH. From 20-Apr to 24-Aug, the total unicellular biomass at HB remained very low in comparison with the other two sampling sites. The biomass of heterotrophs and mixotrophs was higher in the spring period in all three sampling sites. The mixotrophs (mixotrophic species of Dinophyceae, Cryptophyceae, Haptophyceae) were almost absent in the summer samples while autotrophs dominated at the same period.



Figure 12. Total unicellular plankton biomass at 3 sampling sites of Thessaloniki Bay: A) Music Hall (MH), B) White Tower (WT), C) Harbor (HB). Two bloom periods are separated with the vertical red line.

The biomass values of each unicellular eukaryotic taxon generally followed the pattern of abundance, except for HB on 20-Apr. Even if Bacillariophyceae had recorded higher abundance values, Dinophyceae reached higher biomass value, in spring.

During the summer period, Bacillariophyceae were dominant in all 3 sampling sites. The highest value was recorded at WT on 20-Jul with 12.41 mg L⁻¹, while MH and HB reached their peaks on 20-Jul (7.13 mg L⁻¹) and 10-Aug (5.59 mg L⁻¹), respectively. Total unicellular biomass of Dinophyceae varied from 0.085 mg L⁻¹ on 13-Jul (HB) up to a pronounced peak reaching approximately 26.59 mg L⁻¹ on 20-Apr (WT) (Fig. 13). Chlorodendrophyceae, Chlorophyceae, Cryptophyceae, Dictyochophyceae, Euglenophyceae, Prasinophyceae, Prymnesiophyceae and HNFs were not dominant in any sample. Phytoplankton (i.e. without taking into account heterotrophs and mixotrophs) is given in Supplementary Figures 1 - 2 (Appendix).



Figure 13. Biomass of each unicellular eukaryotic planktonic group at 3 sampling sites of Thessaloniki Bay: A) Music Hall (MH), B) White Tower (WT), C) Harbor (HB). Two bloom periods are separated with the vertical red line.

3.6 Phytoplankton Blooms – Red tides

Regarding the abundances of the most dominant unicellular planktonic taxa, Bacillariophyceae dominated in all 3 sampling sites of Thessaloniki Bay, during the summer period. On the contrary, Dinophyceae were the most abundant group blooming in spring except from two samples at WT (20-Apr and 28-Apr) (Figures 14). Their peak was on 28-Apr at MH with 1207.77 cells mL⁻¹. During the summer period, there was a big decline in Dinophyceae abundance in all 3 sampling sites with the lowest abundance value recorded on 13-Jul in MH (31.11 cells mL⁻¹).

The dominant species in spring were *P. micans* and *C. closterium*, and in summer were *Chaetoceros* sp., and *C. closterium*. According to their biovolumes (Supplementary table 4 – Appendix) the limits of *P. micans* is 100 cells mL⁻¹, *Chaetoceros* sp. 200 cells mL⁻¹ and *C. closterium* 10000 cells mL⁻¹. *C. closterium* didn't exceed the bloom limit according to WFD (2000/60/EC) and MSD (2008/56/EC) (see methods, section 2.5). Also, in summer *Chaetoceros* sp. exceeded the abundance threshold indicating bloom formation, according to its biovolume.


Figure 14. Abundance of Bacillariophyceae and Dinophyceae at 3 sampling sites of Thessaloniki Bay: A) Music Hall (MH), B) White Tower (WT), C) Harbor (HB). The spring samples are separated from the summer samples with a red line. The black lines indicate to the bloom thresholds of phytoplankton and protozooplankton abundance according to WFD (2000/60/EC) and MSD (2008/56/EC).

During the study period, *Chaetoceros* sp., *C. closterium*, *C. furca*, *N. scintillans* and *P. micans* had higher abundance, and biomass, than the other unicellular eukaryotes. Figure 15, represents the heat map, based on their abundance values. During the study period, only *Chaetoceros* sp., exceeded the limit for the upper mesotrophic state (960 cells mL⁻¹, UNEP/MAP 2015), with 1064.97 cells mL⁻¹ on 20-Jul. According to WFD (2000/60/EC) and MSD (2008/56/EC) only *Chaetoceros* sp. and *P. micans* exceeded the limit of abundance per unit volume of water corresponding to a bloom or red tide.



Figure 15. Heat map of 4 unicellular eukaryotes based on their abundance values (cells mL⁻¹). A) Music Hall, B) White Tower, C) Harbor. Two bloom periods are separated with the vertical red line.

The biomass heat map represents a different pattern for these dominant species, because of their different biovolume values and their contribution in total biomass (Fig. 16). Although *N. scintillans* was observed in low density through the study period, due to its large size (Supplementary Table 6, Appendix) it contributed to most of the biomass on 20-Apr in WT.



Figure 16. Heat map of 4 unicellular eukaryotes based on their biomass values (mg L⁻¹). A) Music Hall, B) White Tower, C) Harbor. Two bloom periods are separated with the vertical red line.

In March 2022 a macroscopically visible, red tide was detected in WT, consisting of the known red tide forming dinoflagellates *N. scintillans* and itsclose relative *Spatulodinium pseudonoctiluca*. Also, on the 17^{th} of April, mucus was macroscopically detected in MH. Overall, three samples were taken for research. The peak of the red tides appeared to be on 24-Mar with 497.00 cells mL⁻¹ (Fig. 17). There was a great decrease, in total abundance, on 20-Mar and on 17-Apr compared to the abundance of the 24-Mar sample, with 211.5 cells mL⁻¹ and 88.5 cells mL⁻¹, respectively. The total biomass followed the pattern of the abundance, recording the highest value on 24-Mar with 6156.92 mg L⁻¹. MH had the lowest biomass value (1069.15 mg L⁻¹) on 17-Apr (Fig. 18).



Figure 17. Total abundance of *Noctiluca scintillans* and *Spatulodinium pseudonoctiluca* bloom at 2 sites of Thessaloniki Bay: White Tower (WT) and Music Hall (MH).



Figure 18. Total biomass of *Noctiluca scintillans* and *Spatulodinium pseudonoctiluca* bloom at 2 sites of Thessaloniki Bay: White Tower (WT) and Music Hall (MH).

4. Discussion

4.1 Bloom dynamics

Diatoms and dinoflagellates were the most dominant taxonomic groups in Thessaloniki Bay during the study period in 2022. Observations from previous studies have shown that the dominance of diatoms and dinoflagellates is common in the Aegean Sea (Nikolaidis & Moustaka – Gouni, 1990; Mihalatou & Moustaka-Gouni, 2002; Pirreda *et al.*, 2018; Genitsaris *et al.*, 2019; Ignatiades, 2012). Petala et al. (2018), similarly recorded dominant diatom and dinoflagellate communities in Thermaikos Gulf.

During the present study, two seasonal unicellular eukaryotic assemblages have been distinguished in the planktonic community of the area. The first assemblage in April, consisted of the dinoflagellates *Scripsiella trochoida*, *Pyrophacus holorogium*, *P. micans*, *P. minimum*, *P.gracile* and *P. compressum*. The second, in July – August comprised of the diatoms, *Chaetoceros* sp., *C. closterium*, *L. minimus* and *Dactyliosolen fragilisimus*. These species dominated in all three sampling sites. These species were also identified dominating in the inner Thermaikos Gulf, in weekly samples during 2017 – 2018 (Genitsaris *et al.*, 2019), when diatoms had the highest contribution, followed by dinoflagellates which included mixotrophic and heterotrophic taxa.

In spring samples, a bloom of the dinoflagellate *P. micans* was detected in all three sampling sites. From 20-Apr to 28-Apr the abundance of alive cells of *P. micans* declined, while the occurrence of dead *P. micans*, increased indicating the dynamics of the blooms till its senescence. *P. micans* has been recorded causing HABs also in Pagassitikos and Saronikos Gulfs (Tsikoti & Genitsaris, 2021). Furthermore, in all sites heterotrophic and mixotrophic dinoflagellates contributed significantly to the total biomass in April. *P. micans* has been recorded before in Thermaikos Gulf to increase its biomass during spring (Ignatiades, 2012). Species of the genus *Prorocentrum* have caused water discoloration in different regions of Greece. For example, *P. cf. obtusidens* occurring in the inner part of Thermaikos Bay during the winter 2000-2001 was responsible for water discoloration in the area (Nikolaidis *et al.*, 2005). Previous studies have shown that mixotrophic dinoflagellates such as *N. scintillans*, *Gyrodinium* sp., *Gymnodinium* sp. often dominate in high densities in the study area (Ignatiades, 2012).

In contrast to spring, diatoms were the most dominant planktonic group in the summer bloom. Previous studies have shown that mostly diatoms have a strong dominance in Thermaikos Gulf (Genitsaris et. al., 2020; Zapounidou, 2020). *Chaetoceros* sp. and *C. closterium* were the most dominant species (Azov *et al.*, 1986). These species were also observed in Adriatic Sea (Cerino *et al.*, 2019), and in Aegean Sea (Bizsel & Bizsel, 2015). *C. closterium* has been observed again in the coastal area of Thessaloniki Bay and Thermaikos Gulf (Genitsaris *et al.*, 2019; Zapounidou, 2020). According to the results of a study conducted in several gulfs of Greece, including Thermaikos, diatoms predominate over dinoflagellates (Ignatiades, 2012). Compared to the moderate/good quality thresholds (0.1 - 0.6 μ g L⁻¹) suggested by UNEP/MAP (2015), Thessaloniki Bay exceeded by far these values.

Eutrophic marine ecosystems can produce highly dominant diatom communities within phytoplankton assemblages (Le Moal *et al.*, 2019). Under various turbulent and stratification conditions diatoms can cause persistent growth and bloom formations (Bužančić *et al.*, 2016; Sommer *et al.*, 2017). In previous studies, the diatom spring blooms in Thermaikos Gulf (Nikolaides & Moustaka – Gouni, 1990; Genitsaris *et al.*, 2019; Tsikoti & Genitsaris, 2021) have been attributed to their ability to utilize nutrients inputs more efficiently, together with ecological traits that provide advantages in well-mixed conditions (Karageorgis *et al.*, 2005). However, the late March - April samplings of 2022 showed a high dominance of a consortium of dinoflagellate taxa, with mainly heterotrophic or mixotrophic strategies. It is possible that this dinoflagellate bloom followed a previous proliferation of diatoms, which can constitute a food source of dinoflagellate grazers (Sherr & Sherr, 2007), such as *N. scintillans*.

It is known from the literature that the trigger mechanisms governing bloom events and seasonality probably have changed substantially in response to climate change (Radach, 1998). Analogous to earlier blooming in terrestrial plants, a warming of aquatic systems could be expected to cause an earlier timing of the spring phytoplankton bloom. The bloom starts when nutrient/ light conditions are sufficient for growth of the bloom-forming species and terminates through the onset of nutrient limitation (Smetacek 1999), after which large amounts of organic material sediment out. Algal blooms do not last indefinitely and the cells comprising a bloom will inevitably senesce and die, or enter a state of metabolic dormancy. For example, *Pheaocystis globosa* bloom decay in the eastern English Channel has been associated to pressures from parasitic unicellular eukaryotes, such as taxa belonging to Syndiniales (Genitsaris *et al.*, 2015). Thus, the dynamics of a bloom depends on the interplay of multiple factors, including light and nutrient availability as well as grazing and parasitic pressures and species composition of both the grazing and the grazed communities (Irigoien *et al.* 2005).

4.2 HABs

Harmful Algal Blooms HABs have been observed frequently in Thessaloniki Bay and Thermaikos Gulf. The first record of a HAB in the area was a *P. micans* bloom, in 1994; three during 2000 - 2001 caused by species of genus *Prorocentrum* sp., four during 2000 - 2004 caused by *Dinophysis acuminata*, one in 2003 caused by *Chatonella globose*, three during 2013 - 2017 caused by *Gonyaulax spinifera*, one in 2018 caused by *Vicicitus globosus*, and seven during the period 2017 - 2019 caused by *N. scintillans*. Except for *N. scintillans* and *P. micans* that were dominant in spring, the rest of the species that have been previously proliferated in the bay were identified in the samples during the study period in very low abundances, suggesting a large pool of potential HAB forming taxa.

In March 2022, a macroscopically visible bloom forming a red tide was observed in WT. The causative species were the heterotrophic dinoflagellates N. scintillans and close relative S. pseudonoctiluca. Red tides caused by N. scintillans have been linked to eutrophication in several areas of East Mediterranean and especially in the Sea of Marmara (Turkoglu & Koray, 2002), the Aegean Sea (Koray et al., 1996) and the Adriatic Sea (Umani et al., 2004). In contrast, its relative, the dinoflagellate S. *pseudonoctiluca* has been rarely reported in the international literature, although there are records suggesting a cosmopolitan distribution. Its distribution has been underestimated due to its complex life cycle, morphological variability, and taxonomic problems in its recognition (Gómez, 2010). Previous studies have shown that, among other smaller taxa, N. scintillans is feeding on harmful Dinophysis sp. and Pseudonitzschia sp cells. As a result, N. scintillans containing the toxins of these species may act as a vector of toxins by toxigenic algae to higher trophic levels or transport to shellfish aquaculture (Escalera et al., 2007). On the other hand, N. scintillans grazing on toxic dinoflagellates should be considered as a possible regulator of toxic phytoplankton production (Frangópulos, 2011).

Especially the presence of *N. scintillans* has been linked to high concentrations of nutrients, mainly, nitrogen and phosphorus (Genitsaris *et al.*, 2019). Genitsaris *et al.* (2019) have detected several events of macroscopically visible red tides over a temperature range of 10 to 25 °C and a salinity variation of 36 to 38.5 psu in the survey area. Overgrowth of *N. scintillans* is indirectly related to nutrients NH⁴ and PO⁴, which may lead to phytoplankton proliferation, prey to the phagotrophic *Noctiluca. N. scintillans* is one of the most important organisms that form red tides worldwide in a water temperature range of 10-25 °C and a salinity range of 28 to 36 psu in fertile areas that are dominated by diatoms like the Thessaloniki Bay (Genitsaris *et al.*, 2019).

Based on the IOC-UNESCO Taxonomic Reference List of Harmful Microalgae at least 7 out of 83 plankton taxa found in the present study have been characterized as potentially harmful. These taxa are *Pseudo-nitzschia australis*, *Pseudo-nitzschia seriata*, *Phaeocystis* sp., *Chrysochromulina* sp., *D. acuminata*, *Alexandrium catenella* and *Prorocentrum lima*. It is important to note that *P. micans* is not included in the IOC UNESCO Taxonomic Reference List of Harmful Microalgae, yet it has caused discoloration of the water in many areas of Greece (Nikolaidis *et al.*, 2005), and it was dominant in the spring red tide.

Species of *Dinophysis* sp. have been observed in the past in the Eastern Mediterranean and especially in the coastal waters of the Thermaikos Gulf (Nikolaidis & Moustaka-Gouni, 1990; Koukaras & Nikolaidis, 2004). According to local authorities, the first record of *Dinophysis* sp. was in 2000, and caused cases of Diarrheic Shellfish Poisoning (DSP), in humans (200 people were hospitalized) (Koukaras & Nikolaidis, 2004). In particular, the massive bloom of the toxic *D. acuminata* in January 2000 in Thermaikos Gulf (Koukaras & Nikolaidis, 2004), was the first documented toxic outbreak in Greece (Mouratidou *et al.*, 2004) resulting in the loss of approximately 5 million euros in the shellfish industry (Nikolaidis *et al.*, 2005). These features together with the co-occurrence of several harmful organisms (e.g., *Alexandrium* sp.), demonstrate the eutrophic nature of Thermaikos Gulf, and illustrate the need for continuous monitoring of the ecological quality of the water and the environmental situation of Thermaikos Gulf (Petala *et al.*, 2018).

Also, species of the genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* sp. have been associated with amnesic shellfish poisoning (ASP, Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning) and the production of

domoic acid (DA, Domoic Acid) (Nikolaidis *et al.*, 2005). Fifteen of the 26 species of the genus *Pseudo-nitzschia* sp. that produce domoic acid have been found in the Mediterranean Sea (Zingone *et al.*, 2020). Another harmful unicellular planktonic taxon identified in the present study was the genus *Alexandrium* sp. Species of the genus *Alexandrium* sp. have been associated with Paralytic Shellfish Poisoning (PSP) (Nikolaidis *et al.*, 2005), causing both neurological and gastrointestinal symptoms. In the Mediterranean Sea, 6 species of the genus *Alexandrium* sp., are associated with PSP events (Zingone *et al.*, 2020). All the above were recorded in the present study but in very low abundance and biomass values. *Phaeocystis* sp. which has also been identified in the present study, has been associated with mucilage production (Noordkamp *et al.*, 1998). *Phaeocystis* sp. is a colony-forming microalgae that has a global distribution and can develop HABs (Noordkamp *et al.*, 1998).

4.3 Remote sensing

The 23-year monthly climatology of Chl-a in Thermaikos Gulf showed one peak of biomass in March. Also, in 2022 there were 2 biomass peaks, the first in January and the second in March. The general seasonality pattern of the phytoplankton blooms in Thermaikos Gulf suggests increased biomass in winter and spring and a decrease in the summer months (Price *et al.*, 2005; Nikolaidis *et al.*, 2006). There was an attempt to convert the *in–situ* phytoplankton biomass into Chl-a values according to the paper of Alvarez et al. (1999). The comparison of the *in-situ* values and the data values was reliable, but the *in-situ* data is too scarce to have a reliable statistical relationship. At least 150 matchups are needed, during every season, to capture the low medium and high concentrations.

In two samples, 20-Jul and 10-Aug, there was a big divergence between *in-situ* values and satellite data. For example, in 10-Aug the projected chl-a based on phytoplankton biomass values, would be 3 times higher than the chl-a calculated from satellite data. Also, Stramska et al. (2021) tried to compare *in-situ* values and satellite data but, the satellite Chl-a did not always agree with *in-situ* measurements as well, in particular when *in-situ* values were high. Satellite ocean color algorithms do not provide satisfactory results in many coastal areas, where some optically significant water components can be present in larger concentrations than in the open ocean, and can vary independently from one another (Mobley, 1994). More *in-situ* biomass measurements are necessary in order to have trusted results. Satellite and *in-situ*

observation systems are therefore complementary and merging their products for an operational and long-term monitoring of coastal waters is a major challenge for the next years (Gohan *et al.*, 2020).

Although satellite remote sensing is one of the most widespread methods, it is limited by certain characteristics. Initially, satellite remote sensing is limited to near surfaces and cannot detect what may be below the first optical depth (Tomlinson *et al.*, 2004). Sensor detection levels are not sensitive enough to low Chl-a densities. There are ultra-oligotrophic Mediterranean-tuned algorithms that capture low densities. Clouds also play a key role in the collection and monitoring of data. In addition to the collection of satellite data, some degree of *in-situ* validation is required to verify the composition of a remotely sensed bloom (Moita *et al.*, 2006).

5. Conclusions

During this study, weekly water samples were taken from 3 sites in Thessaloniki Bay (Thermaikos Gulf). Also, satellite data of Chl-a, for Thermaikos Gulf, were analyzed. The *in-situ* samples were not enough in order to develop a statistical robust relationship between the *in-situ* Ch-a with the satellite observations. Overall, 83 plankton species were identified in Thessaloniki Bay. In the unicellular planktonic composition, two different seasonal dynamics were observed. In the spring samples, dinoflagellates dominated in all 3 sites (Music Hall, White Tower, Harbor) in terms of diversity, abundance, and biomass. *P. micans* dominated in all three sampling sites during the spring period. During the period 20 Apr-28 Apr there was a decline in *P. micans* alive cells, while the number of dead *P. micans* increased, indicating the progression of the bloom to its senescence. In contrast, in summer, the phytoplankton bloom was dominated by the diatom species *C. Closterium* and *Chaetoceros* sp.

The total abundance of unicellular eukaryotes, compared to the limits of the trophic state, exceeded the limit for the upper mesotrophic state (960 cells mL⁻¹, UNEP/MAP 2015). In March, a macroscopically visible red tide was observed caused by *N. scintillans*. According to the IOC-UNESCO Taxonomic Reference List of Harmful Microalgae, in total, 7 harmful species were observed but in very low abundances, which indicates a large pool of potential HAB forming taxa. The harmful events, along with the presence of harmful algae illustrate the need for continuous monitoring of target indicators of nutrient pollution.

6. References

Accoroni, S., Percopo, I., Cerino, F., Romagnoli, T., Pichierri, S., Perrone, C., Totti, C., (2015). Allelopathic interactions between the HAB dinoflagellate Ostreopsis cf. ovata and macroalgae. *Els.* 48. 147 – 155.

Affe, H., M., D., J., Conceicao, L., P., Rocha, D., S., B., Proenca, L., A., D., O., Nunes, J., M., D., C., (2021). Phytoplankton community in a tropical estuarine gradient after an exceptional harmful bloom of Akashiwo sanguinea (Dinophyceae) in the Todos os Santos Bay. *Oce. And Coas. Res.* 1 – 20.

Anagnostou, C., Kaberi, H., Karageorgis, A., (1997). Environmental impact on the surface sediments of the bay and the Gulf of Thessaloniki according to the Geoaccumulation Index classification. In: Rajar, J., Brebbia, C.A. (Eds.), Water Pollution IV, Measuring, Modelling and Prediction. Computational Mechanics Publications, Southampton. 269–275.

Androulidakis, Y., Kolovoyiannis, V., Makris, C., Krestenitis, Y., Baltikas, V., Stefanidou, N., Chatziantoniou, A., Topouzelis, K., Moustaka-Gouni, M., (2021). Effects of ocean circulation on the eutrophication of a Mediterranean gulf with river inlets: The Northern Thermaikos Gulf. Cont. Shelf Res. 221, 104416.

Azov, Y. 1986. Seasonal patterns of phytoplankton productivity and abundance in nearshore oligotrophic waters of the Levant Basin (Mediterranean). *Journal of Plankton Research*, 8(1), pp41-53.

Bahrami Rad A., (2013). Algae bloom and its importance in aquatic ecosystems.

Balopoulos E.TH., (1986). Physical and dynamical prosesses in a coastal embayment of northwestern Aegean Sea. Thalassographica. 9, 59-78.

Balopoulos, E. Th., & Friligos N.Ch., (1993). Water circulation and eutrophication in the north – western Aegean Sea: Thermaikos gulf. J. Environ. Sci. Health A28, 1311-1329.

Barmawidjaja, D.M., van der Zwaan, G.J., Jorissen, F.J., Puskaric, S., (1995). 150 years of eutrophication in the northern Adriatic Sea: evidence from a benthic foraminiferal record. Marine Geology 122, 367 – 384.

Basset, A., Sabetta, L., Sangiorgio, F., Pinna, M., Migoni, D., Fanizzi, F., Barbone, E., Galluppo, N., Fonda Umani, S., Reizopoulou, S., Nicolaidou, A., Arvanitidis, C., Moncheva, S., Trajanova, A., Georgescu, L., Berqiraj, S., (2008). Biodiversity conservation in Mediterranean and Black Sea laggons: a trait- oriented approach to benthic intertebrate guilds. Aquatic Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst., 18, 4-15.

Berdalet, E. Fleming, L., Gowen, R., Davidson, K., Hess, P., Backer, L. C., Moore, S. K., Hoagland, P., Enevoldsen, H., (2016). Marine harmful algal blooms, human health and wellbeing: challenges and opportunities in the 21st century. Jour. of the Mar. Bio. As. of the UK. (1), 61 - 91.

Bigelow, H. B., L. C.; Lillick; Sears, M., (1940). Phytoplankton and planktonic protozoa of the offshore waters of the Gulf of Maine. Part 1. *Numerical distribution*. *Trans. Am. Philos. Soc.* 21: 149–191.

Billen, G., Garnier, J., (2007). River basin nutrient delivery to the coastal sea: assessing its potential to sustain new production of non-siliceous algae. Mar. Chem. 106, 148–160.

Bizsel, K.; Bizsel, N., (2015). Harmful Algal Blooms (HABs) and Aegean Sea. In The Aegean Sea Marine Biodiversity, Fisheries, Conservation and Governance; Kata ´gan, T., Tokaç, A., Be,siktepe, ,S., Öztürk, B., Eds.; Publication No: 41; Turkish Marine Research Foundation (TUDAV): Istanbul, Turkey.

Boyce, D.G., Lewis, M.R., Worm, B., (2010). Global phytoplankton decline over the past century. Nature. 466:591–596.

Braga, E.S., Bonetti, C.V.D.H., Burone, L., Filho, J.B., (2000). Eutrophication and bacterial pollution caused by industrial and domestic wastes at the Baixada Santista estuarine system – Brazil. Marine Pollution Bulletin 40, 165 – 173.

Burkholder, J.M., Gilbert, P.M., Skelton, H.M., (2008). Mixotrophy, a major mode of nutrition for harmful algal species in eutrophic waters. Harmful Algae 8: 77 – 93.

Bužančić, M., Ninčević Gladan Ž., Marasović, I., Kušpilić G., Grbec B. 2016. Eutrophication influence on phytoplankton community composition in three bays on the eastern Adriatic coast. *Oceanologia*, 58(4), pp302–316. Calbet, A., Landry, M.R., (1999). Mesozooplankton influences on the microbial food web: direct and indirect trophic interactions in the oligotrophic open ocean. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44, 1370-1380.

Cannizzaro, J. P., Carder, K. L., Chen, F. R., Heil, C. A., Vargo, G. A., (2008). "A novel technique for detection of the toxic dinoflagellate, Karenia brevis, in the Gulf of Mexico from remotely sensed ocean color data," Continental Shelf Res., 28, 1, 137–158.

Caroppo, C., Buttino, I., Camatti. E., Caruso G, De Angelis R., (2013). State of the art and perspectives on the use of planktonic communities as indicators of environmental status in relation to the EU Marine Strategy Framework Directive. Biologia Marina Mediterranea, 20 (1), 65-73.

Cerino, F.; Fornasero, D.; Kralj, M.; Giani, M.; Cabrini, M., (2019). Phytoplankton temporal dynamics in the coastal waters of the north-eastern Adriatic Sea (Mediterranean Sea) from 2010 to 2017. *Nat. Conserv.*, 34, 343–372.

Ciavatta, S., Kay, S., Brewin, R. J. W., Cox, R., Di Cicco, A., Nencioli, F., Polimene, L., Sammartino, M., Santoleri, R., Skákala, J., & Tsapakis, M. (2019). Ecoregions in the Mediterranean Sea Through the Reanalysis of Phytoplankton Functional Types and Carbon Fluxes. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 124(10), 6737–6759.

Cibic, T., Cerino, F., Karuza, A., Fornasaro, D., Comici, C., Cabrini, M., (2018) Structural and functional response of phytoplankton to reduced river inputs and anomalous physical-chemical conditions in the Gulf of Trieste (northern Adriatic Sea). Sci. Total Environ. 636, 838–853.

Cokacar, T., Oguz, T., Kubilay, N., (2004). Satellite-detected early summer coccolithophore blooms and their interannual variability in the Black Sea. Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers, 51, 1017–1031.

Collos, Y., Gagne, C., Laabir, M., Vaquer, A., Cecchi, P., Souchu, P., (2004). Nitrogenous nutrition of Alexandrium catenella (Dinophyceae) in cultures and in Thau lagoon, southern France. J. Phycol. 40, 96–103.

Cullen, J.J., (1982). The deep chlorophyll maximum: comparing vertical profiles of chlorophyll a. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. 39(5):791–803.

Davidson, K., Gowen, R.J., Tett, P., Bresnan, E., Harrison, P.J., McKinney, A., Milligan, S., Mills, D.K., Silke, J., Crooks, A.M., (2012). Harmful algal blooms: How strong is the evidence that nutrient ratios and forms influence their occurrence? Estuarine. Coast. Shelf Sci. 115, 399–413.

de Jonge, V.N., (2000). Importance of temporal and spatial scales in applying biological and physical process knowledge in coastal management, an example for the Ems estuary. Continental Shelf Research 20, 1655 – 1686.

Dimitriou, P.D., Papageorgiou, N., Arvanitidis, C., Assimakopoulou, G., Pagou, K., (2015). One Step Forward: Benthic Pelagic Coupling and Indicators for Environmental Status.

Dimiza, M.D., Koukousioura, O., Michailidis, I., Dimou, V.-G., Navrozidou, V., Aligizaki, K., Seferlis, M, (2020). Seasonal living coccolithophore distribution in the enclosed coastal environments of the Thessalonki Bay (Thermaikos Gulf, NW Aegean Sea). Rev. Micropaléontol. 69, 100449.

Dodge J. D., (1985). Atlas of Dinoflagellates: A scanning Electron Microscope Survey. Farrand Press, London.

EC, (2005). Towards a guidance document on eutrophication assessment in the context of European water policies. Common implementation strategy of the Water Framework Directive, European Commission, p. 133.

Eilertsen, H., Wyatt, T., (2000). Phytoplankton models and life history strategies. Afr. J. Mar. Sci. 22 (1), 323–338.

Escalera, L.; Pazos, Y.; Morono, A.; Reguera, B., (2007). Noctiluca scintillans may act as a vector of toxigenic microalgae. *Harmful Algae*, 6, 317–320.

Escalera, L.; Pazos, Y.; Morono, A.; Reguera, B., (2007). Noctiluca scintillans may act as a vector of toxigenic microalgae. *Harmful Algae*, 6, 317-320.

EU Copernicus Marine Environment Monitoring Service (CMEMS), https://marine.copernicus.eu/

European Parliament, Council (2000). Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for

community action in the field of water policy. Official Journal of the European Communities L327: 1-72.

European Parliament, Council (2008). Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 establishing a framework for community action in the field of marine environmental policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive). Official Journal of the European UnionL 164/19: 1-22.

Evagelopoulos, A. (2002). Taxonomic notes on Protoperidinium (Peridiniales, Dinophyceae) species in the Thermaikos Bay (North Aegean Sea, Greece). Mediterranean Marine Science, 3(2), 41.

Facca, C., Bilanicova D., Pojana, G., Sfriso, A., Marcomini, A., (2014). HarmfulAlgaeRecordsinVeniceLagoonandinPoRiverDelta (Northern Adriatic Sea, Italy). *The Scie. Wor. Jour.* 1-11.

Fenchel, T., (1988). Microfauna in pelagic food chains. In: (T.H. Blackburn and J. Sorensen, eds.) Nitrogen cycling in coastal marine environments. SCOPE. John Wiley and Sons, New York. pp. 59 – 65.

Filho, J., A., R., Silva, E., M., Nunes, J., M., D., C., Barros, F., (2012). Effects of a red tide on the structure of estuarine fish assemblages in northeastern Brazil. *Int. Rev. of Hyd.* 5. 389-404.

Frangópulos, M.; Spyrakos, E.; Guisande, C., (2011) Ingestion and clearance rates of the red Noctiluca scintillans fed on the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium minutum* (Halim). *Harmful Algae*, 10, 304-309.

Friligos, N., & Koussouris, T. (1984). Preliminary observations on sewage nutrient enrichment and phytoplankton ecology in Thermaikos Gulf, Thessaloniki, Greece.6.

Friligos, N., Barbetseas, S., (1990). Water masses and eutrophication in a Greek anoxic marine bay. Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry 28 (1), 11 - 23.

Friligos, N., Theocharis, A., Georgopoulos, D., (1985). Preliminary chemical and physical observations during summer 1980 on a silled embayment in the Ionian Sea. Vie et Milieu 35(2), 115 - 125.

Gaines, G., M. Elbrächter, M., (1987). Heterotrophic nutrition. In: (F.J.R. Taylor, ed.) The biology of dinoflagellates. Blackwell, Oxford. 224 – 268. Gani, A., (2014). Ecological water quality assessment of the coastal area of Aggelochori (based on phytoplankton). 43.

Garcés, E., Camp, J., (2012). Habitat changes in the Mediterranean Sea and the consequences for harmful algal blooms formation. In Life in the Mediterranean Sea: A Look at Habitat Changes, Stambler, N., Ed., Nova Science Publishers, Inc.: New York, NY, USA, pp. 519–541.

Garnier, J., Beusen, A., Thieu, V., Billen, G., Bouwman, L., (2010). N:P: Si nutrient export ratios and ecological consequences in coastal seas evaluated by the ICEP approach. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycl. 24.

Gaudy, R., Youssara, F., (2003). Variations of zooplankton metabolism and feeding in the frontal area of the Alboran Sea (western Mediterranean) in winter. Oceanol. Acta 26, 179-189.

Genitsaris S., Stefanidou N., Sommer U., Moustaka – Gouni M., (2019). Phytoplankton Blooms, Red Tides and Mucilaginous Aggregates in the Urban Thessaloniki Bay, Eastern Mediterranean. Diver. 11, 1-22.

Glibert, P., Magnien, R., Lomas, M., Alexander, J., Fan, C., Haramoto, E., Trice, M., Kana, T., (2001). Harmful algal blooms in the Chesapeake and Coastal Bays of Maryland, USA: Comparison of 1997, 1998, and 1999 events. Est. 24, 875–883.

Glibert, P.M., (2020). Harmful algae at the complex nexus of eutrophication and climate change. In: Harmful Algae, Climate Change and Harmful Algal Blooms, 91, p. 101583.

Glibert, P.M., Berdalet, E., Burford, M.A., Pitcher, G.C., Zhou, M., (2018). Global Ecology and Oceanography of Harmful Algal Blooms. Springer.

Gohin, F.; Bryère, P.; Lefebvre, A.; Sauriau, P. G.; Savoye, N.; Vantrepotte, V.; Bozec,
Y.; Cariou, T.; Conan, P.; Coudray, S.; Courtay, G.; Françoise, S.; Goffart, A.; Fariñas
T. H.; Lemoine, M.; Piraud, A.; Raimbault, P.; Rétho, M., (2020). Satellite and *In -Situ*Monitoring of Chl-a, Turbidity, and Total Suspended Matter in Coastal Waters:
Experience of the Year 2017 along the French Coasts. *J. Mar. Sci. Eng.* 8, 665, 1-25.

Gokul, E.A.; Raitsos, D.E.; Brewin, R.J.W.; Hoteit, I., (2023). A singular value decomposition approach for detecting and delineating harmful algal blooms in the Red Sea. Frontiers in Remote Sensing. 4, 944615.

Gokul, E.A.; Raitsos, D.E.; Gittings, J.A.; Hoteit, I., (2020). Developing an atlas of harmful algal blooms in the red sea: Linkages to local aquaculture. Remote Sensing, 12(22):3695.

Gokul, E.A.; Raitsos, D.E.; Gittings, J.A.; Alkawri, A., Hoteit, I., (2019). Remotely sensing harmful algal blooms in the Red Sea. PLoS One, e0215463

Gómez, F., (2010). Diversity and distribution of noctilucoid dinoflagellates (Noctilucales, Dinophyceae) in the open Mediterranean Sea. Acta Protozool., 49, 365-372.

Gotsis-Skretas, O., Pagou, K., Moraitou-Apostolopoulou, M., Ignatiades, L., (1999). Seasonal horizontal and vertical variability in primary production and standing stocks of phytoplankton and zooplankton in the Cretan Sea and the Straits of the Cretan Arc (March 1994-Jannuary 1995). Progress in Oceanography, 44 (4), 625-649.

Gotsis-Skretas, O.; Frigilos, N. 1990. Contribution to eutrophication and phytoplankton ecology in the Thermaikos Gulf. *Thalassographica*, 13(1-2), pp1-12.

Griffiths, J.R., Kadin, M., Nascimento, F.J., Tamelander, T., Tornroos, "A., Bonaglia, S., Bonsdorff, E., Brüchert, V., Gårdmark, A., J" arnstrom, "M., Kotta, J., Lindegren, M., Nordstrom, "C., M., Norkko, A., Olsson, J., Weigel, B., Zydelis, `R., Blenckner, T., Niiranen, S., Winder, M., (2017). The importance of benthic–pelagic coupling for marine ecosystem functioning in a changing world. Glob. Change Biol. 23 (6), 2179–2196.

Guillaud, J.F., Aminot, A., Menesguen, A., (1992). Urban wastewater disposal and eutrophication risk assessment in the coastal zone. Water Sci. Technol., 25, 77–86.

Guillou, L., Nézan, E., Cueff, V., Denn, E. E.-L., Cambon-Bonavita, M.-A., Gentien,
P., & Barbier, G., (2002). Genetic Diversity and Molecular Detection of Three Toxic
Dinoflagellate Genera (Alexandrium, Dinophysis, and Karenia) from French Coasts.
16.

Hallegraeff, G.M., Anderson, D.M., Cembella, A.D., (2003). Manual on harmful marine microalgae. UNESCO Publishing.

Hewson, I.; O'Neil J., M.; Dennison, W., C., (2001). Virus-like particles associated with Lyngbya majuscule (Cyanophyta; Oscillatoriacea) bloom decline in Moreton Bay, Australia. *Aquat Microb Ecol* 25 (3):207–213.

Huang C., Qi H., (1997). The abundance cycle and influence factors on red tide phenomena of Noctiluca scintillans (Dinophyceae) in Dapeng Bay, the South China Sea, J. Plankton Res., 19 (3), 303–318.

Ignatiades, L., (2012). Mixotrophic and heterotrophic dinoflagellates in eutrophic coastal waters of the Aegean Sea (eastern Mediterranean Sea). *Botanica Marina*, 55(1).

Ignatiades, L., Gotsis-Skretas, O., (2010). A review on toxic and harmful algae in Greek coastal waters (E. Mediterranean Sea). Toxins 2: 1019 – 1037.

Ignatiades, L., Gotsis-Skretas, O., Pagou, K., Krasakopoulou, E., (2009). Diversification of phytoplankton community structure and related parameters along a large-scale longitudinal east-west transect of the Mediterranean Sea. Journal of Plankton Research, 31 (4), 411-428.

Ignatiades, L.. (2012). Mixotrophic and heterotrophic dinoflagellates in eutrophic coastal waters of the Aegean Sea (eastern Mediterranean Sea). *Botanica Marina*, 55(1).

Irigoien, X.; Flynn, K., J.; Harris R., P., (2005). Phytoplankton blooms: A 'loophole' in microzooplankton grazing impact? *J. Plankton Res.* 27: 313–321.

Ishizaka, J., Kitaura, Y., Touke, Y., Sasaki, H., Tanaka, A., Murakami, H., Suzuki, T., (2006). Satellite detection of red tide in Ariake Sound 1998-2201. *J. Oceanogr.* 62, 37–45.

Jeffrey, S.W., Vesk, M., (1997). Introduction to marine phytoplankton and their pigment signatures. In: Jeffrey SW, Mantoura RFC, Wright SW (Eds.), Phytoplankton Pigments in Oceanography Guidlines to Modern Methods. United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), 647

Jeong, H.J., Yoo, Y.D., Kim, J.S., Seong, K.A., Kang N.S., Kim, T.H., (2010). Growth, feeding and ecological roles of the mixotrophic and heterotrophic dinoflagellates in marine plankton food webs. *Ocean Sci.* J. 45: 65 – 91.

Karageorgis, A.P., Skourtos, M.S., Kapsimalis, V., Kontogianni, A.D., Skoulikidis, N.T., Pagou, K., Nikolaidis, N.P., Drakopoulou, P., Zanou, B., Karamanos, H., (2005). An integrated approach to watershed management within the DPSIR framework: Axios River catchment and Thermaikos Gulf. *Reg. Environ. Chang.*, 5, 138-160.

Karlson, B., Andersen, P., Arneborg, L., Cembella, Al., Eikrem, W., John, U., West, J.,J., Klemm, K., Kobos, J., Lehtinen, S., Lundholm, N., Marzec, H., M., Naustvoll, L.,Poelman, M., Provoost, P., Rijcke, M., Suikkanen, S., (2021). Harmful algal blooms and their effects in coastal seas of Northern Europe. Els. 102.

Katsiapi, M., Moustaka-Gouni, M., Michaloudi, E., & Kormas, K. Ar,. (2011). Phytoplankton and water quality in a Mediterranean drinking-water reservoir (Marathonas Reservoir, Greece). *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 181(1– 4), 563–575.

Kominoski, J.S., Hoellein, T.J., Leroy, C.J., Pringle, C.M., Swan, C.M., (2009). Beyond species richness: Expanding biodiversity-ecosystem functioning theory in detritus-based streams. River. *Res. Applic*.

Konik, M., Bradtke, K., Egiert, J., S., Wozniak, M. S., Wilczewska, S., Darecki, M., (2023). Cyanobacteria Index as a Tool for the Satellite Detection of Cyanobacteria Blooms in the Baltic Sea. Remote Sens. 1-19.

Koray, T.; Buyukisik, B.; Parlak, H.; Gokpinar, S., (1996). Final reports on research projects dealing with eutrophication and heavy metal accumulation. In Eutrophication Processes and Algal Blooms (Red-Tides) in Izmir Bay; UNEP: Athens, Greece, 104, pp. 1–26.

Krestenitis, Y. N., Valioulis, I. A., Christopoulos, S. P. and Hyder P. A., (1997). The rivers influence on the seasonal coastal circulation of the Thermaikos Gulf. Proc. 3rd Conf. on Med. Coas. Environ. 2, 1169-1184.

Krestenitis, Y.N., Kombiadou, K.D., Androulidakis, Y.S., (2012) Interannual variability of the physical characteristics of North Thermaikos Gulf (NW Aegean Sea). J. Mar. Syst., 96, 132-151.

Krock, B., Seguel, C. G., and Cembella, A. D., (2007). Toxin profile of Alexandrium catenella from the Chilean coast as determined by liquid chromatography with

fluorescence detection and liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. Harmful Algae 6, 734-744.

Kuylenstierna M., Karlson B., (1996-2006). Checklist of phytoplankton in the Skagerrak-Kattegat., Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute. Data base: https://www.smhi.se/oceanografi/oce_info_data/plankton_checklist/ssshome.htm

Lee, J.H.W., Arega, F., (1999). Eutrophication dynamics of Tolo Harbour, Hong Kong. Marine Pollution Bulletin 39, 187 – 192.

Lewandowska, A.M., Boyce, D.G., Hofmann, M., Matthiessen, B., Sommer, U., Worm, B., (2014). Effects of sea surface warming on marine plankton. Ecol. Lett. 17 (5), 614-623.

Li, J., Gilbert, P.M., Zhou, M., (2010). Temporal and spatial variability in nitrogen uptake kinetics during harmful dinoflagellate blooms in the East China Sea. Harmful Algae, 9, 531–539.

Liu, K.K., Chen, Y.J., Tseng, C.M., Lin, I.I., Liu, H.B., Snidvongs, A., (2007). The significance of phytoplankton photo-adaptation and benthic–pelagic coupling to primary production in the South China Sea: observations and numerical investigations. Deep Sea Res. II 54 (14–15), 1546–1574.

Margalef, R., (1997). Turbulence and marine life. Sci. Mar., 61, 109–123.

McKee, D., Cunningham, A., Wright, D., Hay, L., (2007). "Potential impacts of nonalgal materials on water-leaving Sun induced chlorophyll fluorescence signals in coastal waters," Appl. Opt., 46, 31, 7720–7729.

Mihalatou, H. M., & Moustaka-Gouni, M. (2002). Pico-, Nano-, Microplankton Abundance and Primary Productivity in a Eutrophic Coastal Area of the Aegean Sea, Mediterranean. International review of hydrobiology, 87(4), 439-456.

Moita, M., Sobrinho-Gonc, alves, L., Oliveira, P., Palma, S., Falca^o, M., (2006). A bloom of Dinophysis acuta in a thin layer off North-West Portugal. African J. Mar. Sci. 28, 265–269.

Moncheva, S.; Gotsis-Skretas, O.; Pagou, K.; Krastev, A., (2001). Phytoplankton blooms in Black Sea and Mediterranean coastal ecosystems subjected to anthropogenic eutrophication: Similarities and differences. *Estuarine. Coast. Shelf Sci.*, 53, 281–295.

Moustaka-Gouni M., Vardaka E., Michaloudi E., Kormas Ar. K., Tryfon E., Mihalatou H., Gkelis S., Lanaras T., (2006). Plankton food web structure in a eutrophic polymictic lake with a history of toxic cyanobacterial blooms. Limnol. Oceanogr. 51, 715–727.

Nikolaidis, G., Moustaka – Gouni M., (1990). The structure and dynamics of phytoplankton assemblages from the inner part of the Thermaikos Gulf, Greece. I. 62 Phytoplankton composition and biomass from May 1988 to April 1989. Helgoländer Meeresuntersuchungen, 44, 487-501.

Nikolaidis, G.; Koukaras, K.; Aligizaki, K.; Heracleous, A.; Kalopesa, E.; Moschandreou, K.; Tsolaki, E.; Mantoudis, A., (2005). Harmful microalgal episodes in Greek coastal waters. *Jour. Of Bio. Reas.* 3: 77 – 85.

Nikolaidis, N.P., Karageorgis, A., Kapsimalis, V., Marconis, G., Drakopoulou, P., Kontoyiannis, H., Krasakopoulou, E., Pavlidou, E., Pagou, K., (2006). Circulation and nutrient modeling of Thermaikos Gulf, Greece. J. Mar. Syst. 60, 51–62.

Noordkamp. D.J.B; Schotten, M.; Gieskes, W.W.C.; Forney, L.J.; Gottschal, J.C.; Van Rijssel, M., (1998). High acrylate concentrations in the mucus of *Phaeocystis globosa* colonies. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 16, pp45-52.

Paerl, H., W., (1990). Physiological ecology and regulation of N2 fixation in natural waters. *Adv Microb Ecol* 11:305–344.

Paerl, H., W.; Fulton, R., S. III; Moisander, P. H., (2001). Harmful freshwater algal blooms, with an emphasis on cyanobacteria. *The Scientific World* 1:76–113.

Pagou, K., (2005). Eutrophication in coastal Hellenic areas. In: Papatanassiou, E., Zenetos, A. (Eds.), SoHelMe, 2005. State of the Hellenic Marine Environment, HCMR Publ., 311-317.

Pagou, K., Siokou-Frangou, I., Papathanassiou, E., (2002). Nutrients and their ratios in relation to eutrophication and HAB occurrence. The case of Eastern Mediterranean coastal waters. Second Workshop on bThresholds of Environmental Sustainability: The Case of NutrientsQ, 18–19 June, Brussels, Belgium.

Panayotidis, P., Feretopoulou, J., Montesanto, B., (1999). Benthic vegetation as an ecological quality descriptor in an Eastern Mediterranean Coastal Area (Kalloni Bay, Aegean Sea, Greece). Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 48 (2), 205 – 214.

Patoucheas, D., Savvidis, Y., (2010). A hydrobiological model as a tool for the detection of Harmful Algal Bloom (HAB) episodes: Application to Thermaikos Gulf. Fresen. Environ. Bull. 19, 2100–2108.

Pavlidou, A., Kontoyiannis, H., Psyllidou-Giouranovits, R., (2004). Trophic conditions and stoichiometric nutrient balance in the inner Saronikos Gulf (Central Aegean). Fresenious Environmental Bulletin 13 (12b), 1509 – 1514.

Petala, M.; Tsiridis, V.; Androulidakis, I.; Makris, Ch.; Baltikas, V.; Stefanidou, A.; Genitsaris, S.; Antoniadou, C.; Rammou, D.; Moustaka-Gouni, M.; Chintiroglou C.C.; Darakas E., (2018). Conference XIV Protection and Restoration of the Environment (PRE), Thessaloniki, Greece, 3-6 July 2018, pp762-774.

Piredda, R.; Claverie, J.M.; Decelle, J.; Vargas, C.; Dunthorn, M.; Edvardsen, B.; Eikrem, W.; Forster, D.; Kooistra, W.H.C.F.; Logares, R.; Massan, R.; Montresor, M.; Not, F.; Ogata, H.; Pawlowski, J.; Romac, S.; Sarno, D.; Stoeck, T.; Zingone, A., (2018). Diatom diversity through HTS-metabarcoding in coastal European seas. *Scientific Reports*, 8, pp18059.

Pitcher, G.C.; Cembella, A.D.; Joyce, L.B., (2007). The dinoflagellate Alexandrium minutum in Cape Town harbour (South Africa): Bloom characteristics, phylogenetic analysis and toxin composition. Harmful Algae 6, 823-836.

Rabalais, N.N.; Turner, R.E.; Díaz, R.J., Justi'c, D.; (2009). Global change and eutrophication of coastal waters. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 66, 1528–1537.

Radach, G., (1998). Quantification of long-term changes in the German Bight using an ecological development index. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 55: 587–599.

Rene, A., Alacid, E., Vishnyakov, A., E., Seto, K., Tevetkova, V., S., Gordi, J., Kagami, M., Kremp, A., Garces, E., Karpov, S., A., (2022). The new chytridiomycete Paradinomyces triforaminorum gen. et sp. nov. co-occurs with other parasitoids during a Kryptoperidinium foliaceum (Dinophyceae) bloom in the Baltic Sea. *Els.* 120.

Robertson, A., Stirling, D., Robillot, C., (2004). First report of saxitoxin in octopi. Toxicon 44, 765-771.

Robles F.L.E., Collins M.B, Ferentinos G., (1983). Water masses in Thermaikos Gulf northwestern Aegean Sea. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 16, 363-378.

Roemmich, D., McGowan, J., (1995). Climatic warming and the decline of zooplankton in the California current. Science. 267:1324–1326.

Rolinski, S.; Horn, H.; Petzoldt T.; Paul, L., (2007). Identifying cardinal dates in phytoplankton time series to enable the analysis of long-term trends. *Oecologia* 153: 997.

Rott, E., (1981). Some results from phytoplankton intercalibrations. Schweiz. Z. Hydrol. 43: 34-62.

Round F. E., Crawford R. M., Mann D. G., (1990). The Diatoms: Biology & Morphology of the Genera. Cambridge University Press.

Schiller, J., 1937. Dinoflagellatae. In: Rabenhorst's Kryptogamen - Flora yon Deutschland, Osterreich und der Schweiz. Akad. Verl.Ges., Leipzig. (Reprint: Johnson, New York) 10 (2), 1-589.

Scholin, C.A., Gulland, F., Doucette, G.J., Benson, S., Busman, M., Chavez, F.P.,
Cordaro, J., DeLong, J., De Vogelaere, A., Harvey, J., Haulena, M., Lefebvere, M.,
Lipscomb, K., Loscutoff, S., Lowestine, L.J., Marin, R., Miller, P.E., McLellan, W.A.,
Moeller, P.D., Powell, C.L., Rowles, T., Silvagni, P., Silver, M., Spraker, T., Trainer,
V., Van Dolah, F.M., (2000). Mortality of sea lions along the central California coast
linked to a toxic diatom bloom. Nature, 403: 80-84.

Sherr, E.B., Sherr, B.F., (2007). Heterotrophic dinoflagellates: a significant component of microzooplankton biomass and major grazers of diatoms in the sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 352: 187 – 197.

Sherr, E.B., Sherr, B.F., Paffenhofer, G.A., (1986), Phagotrophic protozoa as food of metazoans: a "missing" trophic link in marine pelagic food webs? Mar. Microb. Food Webs 1: 61 – 80.

Siokou-Frangou, I., Bianchi, M., Christaki, U., Christou, E.D., Giannakourou, A., (2002). Carbon flow in the planktonic food web along a gradient of oligotrophy in Aegean Sea (Mediterranean Sea). Journal of Marine Systems, 33, 335-353.

Smayda, T.J., Reynolds, C.R., (2003). Strategies of marine dinoflagellate survival and some rules of assembly. J. Sea Res. 49: 95 – 106.

Smetacek, V., (1999). Diatoms and the ocean carbon cycle. Protist 150: 25–32.

Smith, S.V., Swaney, D.P., Talaue-McManus, L., Bartley, J.D., Sandhei, P.T., McLaughlin, C., Dupra, V.C., Crossland, C.J., Buddemeier, R.W., Maxwell, B.A., Wulff, F., (2003). Humans, hydrology and the distribution of inorganic nutrient loading to the ocean. Bioscience 53, 235–245.

Sommer, U.; Charalampous, E.; Genitsaris, S.; Moustaka-Gouni, M., (2017). Benefits, costs and taxonomic distribution of marine phytoplankton body size. J. *Plankton Res.*, 39, 494–508.

Souchu, P., Bec, B., Smith, V. H., Laugier, T., Fiandrino, A., Benau, L. & Vaquer, A., (2010). Patterns in nutrient limitation and chlorophyll a along an anthropogenic eutrophication gradient in French Mediterranean coastal lagoons. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 67(4), 743-753.

Spatharis, S., Danielidis, D., Tsirtsis, G., (2007). Recurrent Pseudo-nitzschia calliantha (Bacillariophyceae) and Alexandrium insuetum (Dinophyceae) winter blooms induced by agricultural runoff. Harmful Algae 6, 811–822.

Spyrakos, E., Gonza'lez Vilas, L., Torres Palenzuela, J.M., Barton, E.D., (2011). Remote sensing chlorophyll a of optically complex waters (rias Baixas, NW Spain): application of a regionally specific chlorophyll a algorithm for MERIS full resolution data during an upwelling cycle. Remote Sens. Environ. 115, 2471–2485.

Steidinger K. A., Haddad, K., (1981). "Biologic and hydrographic aspects of red tides," BioScience, 31, 11, 814–819.

Stergiou, K.I., Christou, E.D., Georgopoulos, D., Zenetos, A., Souvermezoglou, A., (1997). The Hellenic seas: physics, chemistry, biology and fisheries. Oceanology and Marine Biology: An Annual Review. 35, 415–538.

Stumpf, R.P., (2001). Applications of satellite ocean color sensors for monitoring and predicting harmful algal blooms. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. 7 (5), 1363–1368.

Stumpf, R.P., Culver, M.E., Tester, P.A., Tomlinson, M., Kirkpatrick, G.J., Pederson, B.A., Truby, E., Ransibrahmanakul, V., Soracco, M., (2003). Monitoring Karenia brevis blooms in the Gulf of Mexico using satellite ocean color imagery and other data. Harmful Algae 2, 147–160.

Tester, P.A., Stumpf, R.P., 1998. Phytoplankton blooms and remote sensing: what is the potential for early warning. J. Shellfish Res. 17 (5), 1469–1471.

Theodorou, A.J., (1997). Ecological implications of raw sewage sea disposal in Elefsis Bay (Saronikos Gulf, Greece). Fresenius Environmental Bulletin 6 (7–8), 397 – 402.

Tomas, C. R., (1993). Marine Phytoplankton. A guide to naked flagellates and coccolithophorids. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego.

Tomas, C. R., (1996). Identifying Marine Diatoms and Dinoflagellates. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego.

Tsikoti, C., Genitsaris, S., (2021). Review of Harmful Algal Blooms in the Coastal Mediterranean Sea, with a Focus on Greek Waters. Diversity. 13, 396, 1–22.

Turkoglu, M., (2010) Temporal variations of surface phytoplankton, nutrients and chlorophyll-a in the Dardanelles (Turkish Straits System): A coastal sites sample in weekly time intervals. Turk. J. Biol., 34, 319-333.

Turkoglu, M., (2013). Red tides of the dinoflagellate Noctiluca scintillans associated with eutrophication in the Sea of Marmara (the Dardanelles, Turkey). Oceanologia, 55 (3), 709–732.

Turkoglu, M.; Koray, T., (2002). Phytoplankton species succession and nutrients in the Southern Black Sea (Bay of Sinop). Turk. *J. Bot.*, 26, 235–252.

Tweddle, J. F., Gubbins, M., & Scott, B. E. (2018). Should phytoplankton be a key consideration for marine management? Marine Policy, 97, 1–9.

Ulloa, M. J., Álvarez-Torres, P., Horak-Romo, K. P., & Ortega-Izaguirre, R. (2017). Harmful algal blooms and eutrophication along the mexican coast of the Gulf of Mexico large marine ecosystem. Environmental Development, 22, 120–128.

Umani, S.F.; Beran, A.; Parlato, S.; Virgilio, D.; Zollet, T.; De Olazabal, A.; Lazzarini, B.; Cabrini, M., (2004). Noctiluca scintillans Macartney in the Northern Adriatic Sea: Long-term dynamics, relationships with temperature and eutrophication, and role in the food web. J. *Plankton Res.*, 26, 545–561.

UNEP/MAP (2015). Report of Online Groups on Eutrophication, Contaminants and Marine Litter. United Nations Environment Programme / Mediterranean Action Plan, Rome, Italy.

Utermöhl, H. Zur Vervollkommnung der quantitativen Phytoplankton-Methodik. Mitt. Int. Ver. Theor. Angew. Limnol. (1958). 9, 1–38.

Van Dolah, F.M., (2000). Marine algal toxins: origins, health effects, and their increased occurrence. Env. He. Per. 108. (1), 133–141.

Vila, M., Camp, J., Garce's, E., Maso', M., Delgado, M. (2001). High resolution spatiotemporal detection of potentially harmful dinoflagellates in confined waters of the NW Mediterranean. J. Plankton Res., 23, 497–514.

Vila, M., Giacobbe, M.G., Maso, M., Gangemi, E., Penna, A., Sampedro, N., Azzaro, F., Camp, J., Galluzzi, L., (2005). A comparative study on recurrent blooms of Alexandrium minutum in two Mediterranean coastal areas. Harmful Algae 4, 673–695.

Von Glasow, R., Jickells, T.D., Baklanov, A., Carmichael, G.R., Church, T.M., Gallardo, L., Hughes, C., Kanakidou, M., Liss, P.S., Mee, L., (2013). Megacities and large urban agglomerations in the coastal zone: Interactions between atmosphere, land, and marine ecosystems. Ambio. 42, 13–28.

Warns, A., (2013). Modelling the Life Cycle of Cold-water Dinoflagellates and Diatoms—Dynamics on Seasonal and Interannual Time Scales (PhD thesis). School of Integrated Climate System Sciences. University of Hamburg.

Warns, A., Hense, I., Kremp, A., (2013) a. Encystment of a cold-water dinoflagellate — from in vitro to in sillico. J. Mar. Syst. 125, 54–60.

Warns, A., Hense, I., Kremp, A., (2013) b. Modelling the life cycle of dinoflagellates: a case study with Biecheleria baltica. J. Plankton Res. 35 (2), 379–392.

Water Framework Directive (WFD) 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. Official Journal of the European Communities L327, 1-72.

Xiao, W., Liu, X., Irwin, A.J., Laws, E.A., Wang, Chen, B., Zeng, Y., Huang, B., (2018). Warming and eutrophication combine to restructure diatoms and dinoflagellates. Water research. 128, 206 – 2016.

Yan, Z., Kamanmalek, S., Alamdari, N., (2023). Predicting coastal harmful algal blooms using integrated data-driven analysis of environmental factors. *Els.* 912.

Yurkovskis, A., Wulff, F., Rahm, L., Andruzaitis, A., RodriguezMedina, M., (1993). A nutrient budget of the Gulf of Riga; Baltic Sea, Estuarine. Coastal and Shelf Science 37, 113 – 127.

Zapounidou, M., (2020). Ecological water quality assessment of the coastal area of Olympiaki Akti based on phytoplankton community. 34.

Zarei, M., Arjmandi, R., (2014). Environmental assessment of red tide phenomenon in the Persian Gulf and Oman Sea. In: The first national conference on passive defense in marine sciences, Bandar Abbas.

Zingone, A.; Escalera, L.; Aligizaki, K.; Fernández-Tejedor, M.; Ismael, A.; Montresor, M.; Mozetic, P.; Tas, S.; Totti, C., (2020). Toxic marine microalgae and noxious blooms in the Mediterranean Sea: A contribution to the global HAB status report. *Harmful Algae*, 101843.

7. Appendix

Supplementary Table 1. Presence of unicellular eukaryotes during the study period at MH (Music Hall). (*) indicates heterotrophic species. (**) indicates mixotrophic species.

		N	ſΗ							
	17-Apr	20-Apr	25-Apr	28-Apr	lul-9	13-Jul	20-Jul	10-Aug	17-Aug	24-Aug
Bacillariophyceae										
Asterionellopsis glacialis										
Bacteriastrum furcatum						+	+	+		
Chaetoceros affinis										
Chaetoceros lorenzianus					+		+			
Chaetoceros sp.	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Chaetoceros tenuissimus										
Chaetocheros socialis										
Coscinodiscus sp.	+		+						+	+
Cylindrotheca closterium	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Ditylum brightwelli						+				
Dactyliosolen fragillisimus	+				+	+	+	+	+	+
Eucampia zodiacus										
Guinardia striata					+	+	+	+	+	
Hemiaulus hauckii					+			+		+
Hemiaulus sinensis	+				+					
Leptocylindrus danicus			+	+	+	+	+	+		
Leptocylindrus minimus		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lioloma pacificum					+					
Lithodesmium undulatum										
Meuniera membranacea					+	+		+		
Navicula sp.	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+
Nitzschia longissima		+							+	+
Pleurosigma normanii				+		+		+	+	+
Proboscia alata	+	+	+		+		+	+	+	
Pseudo-nitzschia australis										
Pseudo-nitzschia seriata			+		+		+	+	+	+
Rhizosolenia imbricata					+		+			+
Rhizosolenia setigera										
Rizosolenia pungens					+		+	+	+	+
Rizosolenia sp.	+		+		+	+				
Skeletonema costatum										
Thalassionema nitzschoides										
Thalassiosira oceanica										
<i>Thalassiosira</i> sp.	+		+		+	+		+	+	

Chlorodendrophyceae										
Tetraselmis gracile			+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Chlorophyceae										
Chlamydomonas coccoides										
Cryptophyceae										
Chryptomonas sp. **		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Hillea fusiformis**		+			+		+			
Plagioselmis sp.**	+	+	+		+	+		+	+	+
Teleaulax acuta**	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Dictyochophyceae										
Dictyocha fibula**		+			+				+	+
Dinophyceae										
Alexandrium catenella				+						
Ceratium candelabrum**										
Ceratium furca**	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Ceratium fusus**		+	+							
Ceratium lineatum**										
Ceratium macroceros**										
Ceratium trichoceros**							+	+		+
Ceratium tripos**										
Cochlodinium polykikoides cf.				+						
Diplopsalis sp.*										
Dinophysis acunimata**	+	+		+		+				
Dinophysis dens**	+	+	+	+						
Gonyaulax fragilis	+	+	+			+	+	+	+	
Gymnodinium elongatum*						+				
Gymnodinium sp.*	+	+	+	+				+	+	+
Gyrodinium sp.*	+	+	+	+	+		+		+	+
Heterocapsa triquetra**										
<i>Karenia</i> sp.	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	
<i>Katodinium</i> sp.			+	+		+	+	+	+	+
Noctiluca scintillans*		+	+	+				+	+	
Oxytoxum glacile*										
Oxytoxum longiceps*	+	+	+	+			+			
Podolampas palmipes*										
Polykrikos Schwartzii										
Prorocentrum compressum	+		+	+		+		+		+
Prorocentrum gracile	+		+	+	+		+	+	+	
Prorocentrum lima	+	+		+						
Prorocentrum micans**	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+
Prorocentrum minimum**	+		+		+			+	+	
Protoperidinium brevipes*		+	+							

Protoperidinium claudicans*	+	+		+		+	+		+	
Protoperidinium sp.*			+							
Protoperidinium steinii*	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+
Protoperidinum oceanicum *					+					
Pyrophacus holorogium	+	+	+	+			+		+	
Scripsiella trochoidea	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Spatulodinium				+						
pseudonoctiluca*										
Euglenophyceae										
<i>Euglena</i> sp.**					+	+				
Prasinophyceae										
Pyramimonas octopus										
Prymnesiophyceae										
Chrysochromulina sp. **		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Phaeocystis pouchetii**	+						+	+	+	
HNF	+	+	+	+	+		+		+	+

Supplementary Table 2. Presence of unicellular eukaryotes during the study period at WT (White Tower). (*) indicates heterotrophic species. (**) indicates mixotrophic species.

	I	NТ							
	20-Apr	25-Apr	28-Apr	lul-ð	13-Jul	20-Jul	10-Aug	17-Aug	24-Aug
Bacillariophyceae									
Asterionellopsis glacialis								+	
Bacteriastrum furcatum					+		+		
Chaetoceros affinis									
Chaetoceros lorenzianus	+				+				
Chaetoceros sp.	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Chaetoceros tenuissimus									
Chaetocheros socialis									
Coscinodiscus sp.			+	+	+	+	+		
Cylindrotheca closterium	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Ditylum brightwelli				+	+	+	+	+	+
Dactyliosolen fragillisimus					+				
Eucampia zodiacus									
Guinardia striata				+	+	+	+	+	
Hemiaulus hauckii				+					
Hemiaulus sinensis					+				
Leptocylindrus danicus			+	+	+	+			

Leptocylindrus minimus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lioloma pacificum					+				
Lithodesmium undulatum									
Meuniera membranacea	+				+	+	+		
Navicula sp.	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	
Nitzschia longissima			+	+	+				
Pleurosigma normanii			+	+	+			+	+
Proboscia alata	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Pseudo-nitzschia australis					+				
Pseudo-nitzschia seriata	+	+				+	+	+	
Rhizosolenia imbricata				+					
Rhizosolenia setigera									
Rizosolenia pungens	+		+			+		+	
<i>Rizosolenia</i> sp.	+			+	+				
Skeletonema costatum									
Thalassionema nitzschoides									
Thalassiosira oceanica									
<i>Thalassiosira</i> sp.		+	+		+	+	+	+	+
Chlorodendrophyceae									
Tetraselmis gracile	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	
Chlorophyceae									
Chlamydomonas coccoides									
Cryptophyceae									
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. **	+	+	+	+		+		+	
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis**	+	+	+ +	+ +	+	+	+	+ +	+
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. **	+	+	+ +	+ + +	+++	+	+++	+ +	+++
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp.** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp.** Teleaulax acuta**	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp.** Teleaulax acuta** Dictvochophyceae	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula**	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp.** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp.** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula**	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp.** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp.** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella	+ + +	+ +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum**	+ + +	+ +	+ + +	+ + + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp.** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum** Ceratium furca**	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum** Ceratium furca** Ceratium fusus**	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + + + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum** Ceratium furca** Ceratium fusus**	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum** Ceratium furca** Ceratium fusus** Ceratium fusus**	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum** Ceratium furca** Ceratium furca** Ceratium fusus** Ceratium lineatum** Ceratium lineatum**	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum** Ceratium furca** Ceratium furca** Ceratium fusus** Ceratium lineatum** Ceratium macroceros** Ceratium trichoceros**	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum** Ceratium furca** Ceratium furca** Ceratium fusus** Ceratium lineatum** Ceratium lineatum** Ceratium macroceros** Ceratium trichoceros** Ceratium trichoceros** Ceratium tripos** Cochlodinium polykikoides	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + + +	+ + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum** Ceratium furca** Ceratium fusus** Ceratium fusus** Ceratium lineatum** Ceratium macroceros** Ceratium trichoceros** Ceratium trichos** Ceratium tripos** Cochlodinium polykikoides Diplopsalis sp. *	+ + +	+	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + + + +
Cryptophyceae Chryptomonas sp. ** Hillea fusiformis** Plagioselmis sp. ** Teleaulax acuta** Dictyochophyceae Dictyocha fibula** Dinophyceae Alexandrium catenella Ceratium candelabrum** Ceratium furca** Ceratium furca** Ceratium fusus** Ceratium lineatum** Ceratium lineatum** Ceratium macroceros** Ceratium trichoceros** Ceratium trichoceros** Ceratium trichoceros** Ceratium trichoceros** Cochlodinium polykikoides Diplopsalis sp.* Dinophysis acunimata*	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +	+ + +	+ + + +

Gonyaulax fragilis	+	+	+	+		+	+		+
Gymnodinium elongatum*									
Gymnodinium sp.*	+	+	+	+	+			+	+
Gyrodinium sp.*	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+
Heterocapsa triquetra**									
<i>Karenia</i> sp.	+	+		+	+	+		+	
Katodinium sp.	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	
Noctiluca scintillans*	+	+	+		+		+	+	
Oxytoxum glacile*			+						
Oxytoxum longiceps*		+	+	+			+	+	
Podolampas palmipes*									
Polykrikos Schwartzii	+								
Prorocentrum compressum	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	
Prorocentrum gracile	+	+	+	+	+		+		+
Prorocentrum lima		+	+	+				+	
Prorocentrum micans**	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Prorocentrum minimum**	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	
Protoperidinium brevipes*									
Protoperidinium claudicans*	+		+		+	+		+	
Protoperidinium sp.*		+							
Protoperidinium steinii*	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	
Protoperidinum oceanicum *	+				+				
Pyrophacus holorogium	+	+	+		+	+		+	
Scripsiella trochoidea		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Spatulodinium	+								
pseudonoctiluca*									
Euglenophyceae									
Euglena sp.**	+			+	+	+		+	+
Prasinophyceae									
Pyramimonas octopus			+						
Prymnesiophyceae									
Chrysochromulina sp.**		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Phaeocystis pouchetii**		+	+	+		+	+		
HNF	+	+		+	+	+		+	

		HB	5						
	20-Apr	25-Apr	28-Apr	lul-9	13-Jul	20-Jul	10-Aug	17-Aug	24-Aug
Bacillariophyceae									
Asterionellopsis glacialis									
Bacteriastrum furcatum			+		+				
Chaetoceros affinis									
Chaetoceros lorenzianus									
Chaetoceros sp.	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Chaetoceros tenuissimus									
Chaetocheros socialis									
Coscinodiscus sp.			+		+	+	+		
Cylindrotheca closterium	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Ditylum brightwelli				+	+	+	+	+	+
Dactyliosolen fragillisimus					+				
Eucampia zodiacus									
Guinardia striata				+	+	+	+	+	
Hemiaulus hauckii									
Hemiaulus sinensis									
Leptocylindrus danicus			+	+	+	+		+	
Leptocylindrus minimus	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lioloma pacificum									
Lithodesmium undulatum									
Meuniera membranacea					+				+
Navicula sp.	+	+			+	+	+		+
Nitzschia longissima									
Pleurosigma normanii			+		+	+		+	+
Proboscia alata	+	+	+	+		+	+		+
Pseudo-nitzschia australis					+				
Pseudo-nitzschia seriata	+	+				+	+	+	
Rhizosolenia imbricata				+	+				
Rhizosolenia setigera									
Rizosolenia pungens					+		+	+	
<i>Rizosolenia</i> sp.		+		+		+			
Skeletonema costatum									
Thalassionema nitzschoides									
Thalassiosira oceanica									
<i>Thalassiosira</i> sp.					+	+	+	+	+
Chlorodendrophyceae									

Supplementary Table 3. Presence of unicellular eukaryotes during the study period at HB (Harbor). (*) indicates heterotrophic species. (**) indicates mixotrophic species.

Tetraselmis gracile	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Chlorophyceae									
Chlamydomonas coccoides									
Cryptophyceae									
Chryptomonas sp. **	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Hillea fusiformis**	+		+	+		+	+		+
Plagioselmis sp.**	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Teleaulax acuta**	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Dictyochophyceae									
Dictyocha fibula**	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+
Dinophyceae									
Alexandrium catenella							+	+	
Ceratium candelabrum**							-	-	
Ceratium furca**	+		+	+		+	+	+	
Ceratium fusus**						+			
Ceratium lineatum**									
Ceratium macroceros**									
Ceratium trichoceros**			+						+
Ceratium tripos**									
Cochlodinium polykikoides			+						
Diplopsalis sp.*									
Dinophysis acunimata**	+	+	+		+				
Dinophysis dens**	+	+	+						
Gonyaulax fragilis	+	+	+	+			+	+	+
Gymnodinium elongatum*									
Gymnodinium sp.*	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+
<i>Gyrodinium</i> sp.*	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+
Heterocapsa triquetra*	+								
Karenia sp.	+	+	+			+		+	+
Katodinium sp.		+	+	+	+	+		+	
Noctiluca scintillans*	+	+	+			+		+	
Oxytoxum glacile*			+				+		
Oxytoxum longiceps*	+	+	+		+		+	+	+
Podolampas palmipes*									
Polykrikos Schwartzii				+		+		+	
Prorocentrum compressum	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Prorocentrum gracile	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	
Prorocentrum lima		+	+	+		+		+	+
Prorocentrum micans**	+	+	+	+	+	+			
Prorocentrum minimum**	+		+	+			+	+	+
Protoperidinium brevipes*			+						
Protoperidinium claudicans*	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	

Protoperidinium sp.*									
Protoperidinium steinii*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
Protoperidinum oceanicum *	+								+
Pyrophacus holorogium	+		+	+			+		
Scripsiella trochoidea	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Spatulodinium									
pseudonoctiluca*									
Euglenophyceae									
<i>Euglena</i> sp.**				+		+	+	+	+
Euglena sp.** Prasinophyceae				+		+	+	+	+
Euglena sp.** Prasinophyceae Pyramimonas octopus			+	+		+	+	+	+
Euglena sp.**PrasinophyceaePyramimonas octopusPrymnesiophyceae			+	+		+	+	+	+
Euglena sp.**PrasinophyceaePyramimonas octopusPrymnesiophyceaeChrysochromulina sp.**	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Euglena sp.**PrasinophyceaePyramimonas octopusPrymnesiophyceaeChrysochromulina sp.**Phaeocystis pouchetii**	+	+	+ + +	+	+	+	+	+	+
	µm³/cell								
------------------------------	----------								
Bacillariophyceae									
Asterionellopsis glacialis	2538								
Bacteriastrum furcatum	4708								
Chaetoceros affinis	3096								
Chaetoceros lorenzianus	6500								
Chaetoceros sp.	6230								
Chaetoceros tenuissimus	68								
Coscinodiscus sp.	425293								
Cylindrotheca closterium	175								
Dactyliosolen fragillisimus	2484								
Ditylum brightwelli	27235								
Eucampia zodiacus	12191								
Guinardia striata	14942								
Hemiaulus hauckii	344								
Hemiaulus sinensis	1981								
Leptocylindrus danicus	3146								
Leptocylindrus minimus	109								
Lioloma pacificum	1200								
Meuniera membranacea	11197								
<i>Navicula</i> sp.	118								
Nitzschia longissima	734								
Pleurosigma normanii	20040								
Proboscia alata	7850								
Pseudo-nitzschia australis	314								
Pseudo-nitzschia seriata sf.	314								
Rhizosolenia imbricata	65600								
Rhizosolenia setigera	11200								
Rizosolenia pungens	1016								
Rizosolenia sp.	2064								
Skeletonema costatum	42								
Thalassionema nitzschoides	179								
Thalassiosira sp.	8373								
Chlorodendrophyceae									
Tetraselmis gracile	236								
Chlorophyceae									

Supplementary Table 4. Used biovolumes for the estimation of biomass of Thessaloniki Bay.(*) indicates heterotrophic species. (**) indicates mixotrophic species.

Chlamydomonas coccoides	90
Cryptophyceae	
<i>Chrvptomonas</i> sp.**	706
Hillea fusiformis**	150
Plagioselmis sp.**	67
Teleaulax acuta**	146
Dictvochonhyceae	
Dictyocha fibula**	29955
Dinonbyceae	27700
Alexandrium catenella	8182
Ceratium furca**	30000
Ceratium fusus **	90000
Ceratium lineatum**	17000
Ceratium macroceros**	41000
Ceratium trichoceros**	77580
Ceratium tripos**	40300
Cochlodinium polykikoides cf.	20000
Diplopsalis sp.*	47700
Dinophysis acunimata**	11340
Dinophysis dens**	10024
Gonvaulax fragilis	1417
<i>Gymnodinium elongatum</i> * sf.	23000
<i>Gymnodinium</i> sp.*	3779
<i>Gyrodinium</i> sp.*	1110
Heterocapsa triquetra	570
Karenia sp.	2068
Katodinium sp.	3245
Noctiluca scintillans*	12000049
Oxytoxum glacile*	15093
Oxytoxum longiceps*	8232
Podolampas palmipes*	16212
Polykrikos Schwartzii	100480
Prorocentrum compressum	2381
Prorocentrum gracile	935
Prorocentrum lima	920
Prorocentrum micans**	10366
Prorocentrum minimum**	810
Protoperidinium brevipes*	6900
Protoperidinium claudicans*	54808
Protoperidinium sp.*	11650
Protoperidinium steinii*	19666
Protoperidinum oceanicum *	61740
Pyrophacus holorogium	2308

Scripsiella trochoidea	2153
Spatulodinium pseudonoctiluca*	26288372
Euglenophyceae	
<i>Euglena</i> sp.**	392
Prasinophyceae	
Pyramimonas octopus	78
Prymnesiophyceae	
Chrysochromulina sp.**	592
Phaeocystis pouchetii**	110
HNF	39



Supplementary Figure 1. Biomass without heterotrophs of each phytoplankton taxon at 3 sampling sites of Thessaloniki Bay: A) Music Hall (MH), B) White Tower (WT), C) Harbor (HB). The spring samples are separated from the summer samples with a red line.



Supplementary Figure 2. Biomass without heterotrophs and mixotrophs each phytoplankton taxon at 3 sampling sites of Thessaloniki Bay: A) Music Hall (MH), B) White Tower (WT), C) Harbor (HB). The spring samples are separated from the summer samples with a red line.